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INTRODUCTION





Can history repeat itself?


Not exactly – of course not. But I must say, as I sit here in the summer of 2015, re-reading my diary from the 1990s, there are aspects of the past that seem to be very present.


In 1992, I became an MP at the general election where almost every opinion poll leading up to polling day predicted either a hung parliament or a small Labour majority. In the event, the Conservative Party, led by John Major, won the election and secured an overall majority of twenty-one seats in the House of Commons. The expectations of the pollsters and the pundits were confounded: the voters, it turned out, did not see the Labour leader, Neil Kinnock, as a potential Prime Minister. In retrospect, Mr Kinnock’s triumphalist cry of ‘We’re all right’, delivered at a rally in Sheffield eight days before polling, was seen as premature.


At the 2015 general election, where again almost every opinion poll predicted a hung parliament or a narrow Labour victory, the Labour leader, Ed Miliband, a week before polling day, unveiled an eight-foot, six-inch slab of limestone inscribed with six pledges and promised to erect the mighty stone in the garden of 10 Downing Street when he became Prime Minister. It was not to be. The Conservative Party, led by David Cameron, won the election and secured an overall majority of twelve seats in the House of Commons.


Mr Major’s re-election in 1992 was unexpected, but he did not have long to savour his success. As you will discover (or be reminded) in the pages that follow, within weeks of his electoral triumph, his party was engulfed in what amounted to a European civil war. And in 2015, within weeks of Mr Cameron’s unexpected outright election victory, this is the front-page headline in the Daily Telegraph on the day that I happen to be writing this: ‘Tory mutiny on EU referendum: Downing Street chaos’.


As a good European, Alphonse Karr, sometime editor of Le Figaro, famously put it, way back in 1849: plus ça change, plus c’est la même chose.


Of course, things do change. The drama of Mr Cameron’s premiership will be different from Mr Major’s in many ways, although, incredibly, some of the cast – almost a quarter of a century on – remain the same. (The political cartoon in today’s paper features Ken Clarke and John Redwood, as recognisable as ever and both still MPs.) One thing that the Cameron and Major administrations will have in common, however, is their dependence on the Government Whips’ Office.


John Major began his second term as Prime Minister with a majority of twenty-one. As his years in office rolled by, death, disloyalty and defection reduced that majority to nil. David Cameron has begun his second term as Prime Minister with a majority of just twelve. Managing a government with a wafer-thin majority is not easy and the Government Whips’ Office is central to the endeavour. And how it does that job is at the heart of this book, which is why, when the book first appeared, a number of good people – friends and former colleagues – viewed its publication as an act of betrayal.


On the first anniversary of the 1997 general election, when extracts from my diary appeared in a Sunday newspaper, the Conservative Chief Whip telephoned me at home. He was a model of quietly spoken courtesy. I would have expected nothing less: James Arbuthnot, MP for North East Hampshire until 2015, is a gentleman. (Eton, Captain of School; Trinity College, Cambridge; in the expenses furore of 2009, he immediately apologised and repaid the public funds he had claimed for the cleaning of his swimming pool.) He said to me, ‘Gyles, you do know that you are breaking the whips’ code, don’t you?’


I did. And it troubled me. Government whips do not talk about their work, do not discuss their role, do not describe the way they go about their business. They never have – or, at least, they never had until I published Breaking the Code.


The day after getting the Chief Whip’s call I happened to find myself at a BBC studio talking to Anthony Howard, veteran political commentator and then (perhaps appropriately, under the circumstances) obituaries editor of The Times.


‘I’ve got a moral dilemma with these diaries,’ I said.


‘No, you haven’t,’ said Tony. ‘You’ve got a personal dilemma. It’s not a moral issue. Government whips are government ministers, paid for by the taxpayer. What they do and how they do it are matters of legitimate public interest. If by publishing your diaries you’ll be burning your bridges, that’s a personal matter. That’s for you to decide.’


I decided to take the risk, not only for reasons of cash and vanity, not simply because I enjoy reading other people’s diaries and I hope that others may enjoy reading mine, but because I was not convinced that the secrecy surrounding the Whips’ Office – and much else that happens in Westminster and Whitehall – is either right or necessary.


In my telephone conversation with the Chief Whip, he reminded me that part of the potency of the Whips’ Office derives from the mystery surrounding it. He echoed Walter Bagehot’s famous line on the monarchy: ‘We must not let in daylight upon magic.’ But Bagehot died in 1877. We are now well into the twenty-first century and whips are neither magicians nor Freemasons: they are Members of Parliament with a specific job to do. Their task is to manage and secure the parliamentary business of the government of the day and, in so doing, manage and understand their fellow MPs. If they are more open about the way they operate I can see no harm in it, and, even, some good.


On the day Breaking the Code was published, a large brown envelope was delivered to my front door. Inside it was a second envelope. Inside that was a sheet of white paper that contained nothing but a large black spot: a mark of shame. I had betrayed the Office and the Office wanted to make that fact clear to me. I was not in any doubt and so not surprised, in the months that followed, to find former fellow whips, when I chanced to meet them or to pass them in the street in Westminster, avoiding my eye or, in some cases, deliberately turning away and cutting me.


It is more than twenty years since I joined the Whips’ Office and I believe by most (if not all) of my former colleagues I have now been forgiven – or forgotten. Happily, Breaking the Code was well received when it appeared – and not only by the reviewers. Several of the leading characters in the narrative wrote to tell me that I had got it ‘about right’. The book played a part in the development of two successful plays about the workings of the Whips’ Office: Whipping It Up by Steve Thompson (2006) and This House by James Graham (2012). And in 2005, a former head of the Whips’ Office, Tim Renton, Baron Renton of Mount Harry, Chief Whip during Margaret Thatcher’s final year in power, published his own account of the history and practice of parliamentary whipping.


These diaries, of course, cover more than my sojourn in the Whips’ Office. The extracts begin in May 1990, when I was deciding it was about time I got into Parliament, and end in May 1997, when the electors of Chester decided it was time I got out. Those seven years take us from the fall of Margaret Thatcher to the election of Tony Blair, and in choosing the material for publication – reducing the potential of more than a million words to one manageable volume – my aim has been to provide both an informal record of some eventful years in British politics and one individual’s account of the everyday reality of what is involved in becoming a parliamentary candidate, securing a seat, fighting an election, arriving at Westminster, and, once there, attempting to climb the greasy pole. In its way, I hope that aspect of the book is as revelatory as my account of life as a government whip.


In 1990, I was working mainly in television and publishing. I was also non-executive director of a successful company (Spear’s Games, manufacturers of Scrabble) and deputy chairman of a failing one (the Royal Britain exhibition at London’s Barbican). In my spare time I was actively involved in the work of the National Playing Fields Association, the national trust of recreational space. Once I became an MP, I was wholly engrossed in my political life. For five years my routine hardly varied: Mondays to Thursdays I was at Westminster, morning, noon and night. I would leave my home in Barnes, south-west London, at 7.00 a.m. and get back at midnight. On Fridays and at weekends I was mostly in my constituency. I hope I was a conscientious MP. I certainly tried to be. The diary was written in various places: in my study at home in Barnes; in bed at our flat in the centre of Chester; on trains and planes going to and from the north-west; at the House of Commons, occasionally in the Chamber itself, mostly in the Silent Room in the House of Commons Library, my favourite place in my favourite part of the Palace of Westminster. I have a wonderful wife and remarkable children. That they barely feature here reflects not only the editing process, but also the fact that the committed MP all too easily loses sight of his family.


When I was at Oxford in the late 1960s, I was interviewed by the Sun newspaper and, if the cutting is to be believed, boldly declared that my life’s ambition was ‘to be a sort of Danny Kaye and then Home Secretary’. My plan didn’t quite work out. I became a minor-league TV presenter and a Lord Commissioner of Her Majesty’s Treasury. I have no regrets, but no illusions either. These are not a distinguished Cabinet minister’s memoirs. These are the daily jottings of a novice backbencher turned government whip. They reveal assorted weaknesses: impatience, intolerance, intemperance, vanity, egoism, faulty judgement, lack of discretion, absurd ambition (quite embarrassing at times), a naive eagerness to please. Alarmingly, I am not sure they reveal any strengths at all – other than a keen sense of the absurd. But they are what they are, edited yes, but undoctored, presented as they were written on the day, without stylistic improvement, without benefit of hindsight.


Meeting Gordon Brown at 11 Downing Street in 1998 (he was not recruiting me to the Third Way: we were having coffee after appearing on Frost on Sunday), the then Chancellor of the Exchequer told me that he had enjoyed reading my account of life at the Treasury under Kenneth Clarke and Norman Lamont. ‘I was particularly fascinated by the meeting you called “Prayers”,’ he said. ‘We don’t have “Prayers”.’ Times change. Longserving MPs of all parties tell me that the camaraderie and clubbability of the House of Commons that I knew in the 1990s has gone. The more civilised working hours introduced by New Labour have seen to that. And several MPs from intakes after mine have told me that, having read my diaries, they marvelled at the ready and regular access backbenchers had to the most senior members of the government in John Major’s day.


John Major is the principal player in this story. He makes an unlikely hero: he is not ‘box office’ in the way that Margaret Thatcher was. But to me he is a hero nonetheless and, re-reading these diaries and reflecting on his record and on the way he kept the show on the road in the most inauspicious circumstances, my admiration for him continues to grow. He is more interesting than most people realise, and more achieving. It is not easy being Prime Minister, as Gordon Brown demonstrated.


‘A decent man dealt an unlucky hand,’ was Douglas Hurd’s assessment of Mr Major. What history’s judgement will be is still too soon to tell. What is certain is that John Major led the Conservative Party to a remarkable victory against the odds in 1992 and led them to an historic defeat in 1997. What happened in between is what this book is about.


As a postscript, I have added some extracts from my diaries covering the decade following 1997. I have included them to tie up a few loose ends and to give a flavour of ‘what happened next’, but I have kept them brief because in politics, in my experience, you are either in the game or you are out of it. For a few years I was in it and – for all the horrors I describe in the pages that follow – there is nowhere else that I would rather have been.
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ABBREVIATIONS







A – also known as Drinks – the meeting of a team of supportive backbench MPs specially recruited by the Whips’ Office


BNFL – British Nuclear Fuels Ltd


CGT – Capital Gains Tax


CSA – Child Support Agency


DfE – Department for Education


DNH – Department of National Heritage


DoE – Department of the Environment


DoH – Department of Health


DPM – Deputy Prime Minister


DSS – Department of Social Security


DTI – Department of Trade and Industry


ECOFIN – Meeting of the EU Economic and Finance Ministers


EDCP – Ministerial Committee on the Coordination and Presentation of Government Policy


EDM – Early Day Motion


EMU – Economic and Monetary Union


ERM – Exchange Rate Mechanism


ETB – English Tourist Board


FCO – Foreign and Commonwealth Office


GATT – General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade


HRH – His Royal Highness: in the context of the diaries, usually the Duke of Edinburgh


IGC – Inter-Governmental Conference


MBNA – Maryland Bank of North America


MEP – Member of the European Parliament


MoD – Ministry of Defence


NFU – National Farmers’ Union


NPFA – National Playing Fields Association


PC – Privy Counsellor


PMQs – Prime Minister’s Questions


PPC – Prospective Parliamentary Candidate


PPS – Parliamentary Private Secretary


PR – Proportional Representation


PUSS – Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State


Q – a weekly meeting of backbench MPs supportive of the government


QMV – Qualified Majority Voting


RHF – Right Honourable Friend


SDP – Social Democratic Party


SFO – Serious Fraud Office


SoS – Secretary of State


UU – Ulster Unionist




















FOOTNOTING





I have tried to keep footnotes to a minimum, but felt it right to include brief details of the constituencies of Members of Parliament when they make their first appearance in the diary. When their party allegiance is not given they are Conservatives. If they have died since the diary was written I have added their dates as well. I have also provided footnotes introducing members of my family and friends on their first appearance, but not people to whom only passing reference is made or whose names will be familiar already to the general reader.






















‘Nothing matters very much and very few things matter at all.’


ARTHUR BALFOUR, PRIME MINISTER 1902–6























CHAPTER I


1990





TUESDAY 1 MAY 1990


I spoke, not very well, at the London Playing Fields Society centenary dinner at the Savoy.1 The meal was something of a struggle. I was seated next to Field Marshal The Lord Bramall KG, GCB, OBE, MC, JP,2 whose terrible dandruff was wafted straight from his left shoulder onto my petit tournedos de boeuf aux echalotes every time a waiter breezed past. The Duke of Gloucester gave his I’m-rather-shy-but-really-very-willing-decent-and-determined speech (which went down well) and our diminutive Minister for Sport3 scored with a nice mixture of laughs and exhortation. As he left he said to me, ‘When are you joining us at Westminster?’ I said ‘I don’t think I am’, but, of course, I want to.


SUNDAY 6 MAY 1990


Breakfast at TV-am4 with Brian Johnston5 (who is lovely and up there with the Queen Mother as one of the four or five people in the land who can do no wrong) and Carol Thatcher6 (who is lovely too in her funny lumpen way and who’s played a fairly tricky hand pretty faultlessly). We talked about Michael Whitehall7 and Carol said Michael’s story about the taxi is quite true. When they were going out, Michael picked her up at No. 10 one evening and asked to use the phone to ring for a cab.


‘Where are we picking up from, guv?’


‘Downing Street,’ said Michael.


‘Oh, yeah?’ said the voice, ‘No. 10 is it?’


‘Yes,’ said Michael.


‘Oh, yeah?’ repeated the voice, ‘And what name is it?’


‘Whitehall.’


‘Oh yeah. A likely story.’ At which point Carol grabbed the phone from Michael and said, ‘We’d like a taxi for Whitehall at 10 Downing Street please.’


‘Oh yeah. And I suppose you’re called Thatcher are you?’


‘As a matter of fact, I am.’


The taxi never came.


BANK HOLIDAY MONDAY, 7 MAY 1990


Simon8 came for lunch. He’s been out of Noel & Gertie for two weeks having an ingrown hair removed from under his left arm. We laughed a lot, but he seemed a bit bleak. He went off to see Frankie Howerd’s one-man show and we stayed in and watched Ken Dodd’s This Is Your Life.


TUESDAY 8 MAY 1990


TV-am and breakfast with John Denver.9 On to Royal Britain10 and more crisis talks. Walk to the Savoy for the NPFA fund-raising lunch. Prince Philip11 (in his electric taxi) arrived ten minutes early, but this time (unlike last time when I was in the loo) I was on the doorstep ready and waiting. He’s very good: easy, relaxed, apparently interested, informed, concerned etc. even though, poor bugger, he’s been at it relentlessly for forty years plus. At the lunch – a smallish group, selected high-rollers (at least, that was the idea…) – HRH spoke well: no notes (certainly not the ones I’d provided!) and his usual trick of being sufficiently indiscreet to make his audience feel they were being ‘let in’ on something. Colin Sanders,12 bless him, offered £50,000 there and then. So did Roger Levitt.13


Supper with Anne Maxwell14 in her basement flat in Ladbroke Grove. There’s a touch of the Carol Thatcher good-hearted jolly-hockey-sticks about her, and, like Carol vis-à-vis Mrs T., Anne manages to be loyal to her awesome parent without apparently becoming his creature. I’m not sure the same can be said about brother Kevin who left the table at ten to return to the office: ‘There’s a lot still to do tonight. I’ve got to sign an Australian affidavit. It certainly can’t wait till morning.’


WEDNESDAY 9 MAY 1990


At Royal Britain our overdraft has topped the million mark and is being extended little by little (guaranteed by Richard)15 while we search for extra funds and/or a buyer. John Broome, founder of Alton Towers, came today and declared that he would take it on – for a controlling interest. He’d pick up the overdraft and spend £2.5 million to give the show the ‘wow’ factor and jack up the marketing. Was it all bluff and bombast? We left it that he’ll come again and take a closer look – when he gets back from his day-trip to New York tomorrow…


Lunch at the House of Lords with Lord Raglan,16 Prince Philip’s suggestion as NPFA’s man in Wales. Amiable, clear-thinking, amusing – and the name has a ring to it. Lord Longford pottered up and asked if I was still standing on my head. Then he tried to persuade me to show him there and then. I told Raglan that Longford was the only man I knew who could embrace a totally naked woman and apparently not notice it.17


THURSDAY 10 MAY 1990


TV-am. On air at 6.10 a.m. At 7.30 a.m. breakfast at the RAC with decent, generous Christopher Laing,18 who confides that he’s going to give £100,000 to the appeal. Brilliant.


At Royal Britain nothing so obviously brilliant, but a glimmer of hope. J. Paul Getty Jr’s ‘man of business’ calls. ‘My client is capricious. He might like it very much. He might not like it at all.’ What a perfect partner he would make! He is seeing JPG on Monday and will report back. If JPG comes to see the exhibition he will want to be totally alone. ‘There must be no one else in the building.’


SUNDAY 13 MAY 1990


Took Benet19 to see Charles Dance as a wonderful Coriolanus at the RSC yesterday: power politics and a fickle public. Glorious.


Today at TV-am: Brian Sewell20 (very queeny), Anthony Burgess21 (getting frail) and Tony Holden22 (in happy form). Tony told me a story told to him by Basil Boothroyd who was given an office at Buckingham Palace at the time he was writing his authorised biography of Prince Philip. Arriving for work one morning, crossing the courtyard, gravel scrunching under foot, the eyes of a hundred tourists boring into him, Boothroyd encountered the Queen’s Private Secretary coming the other way. Boothroyd paused to greet him. Pleasantries were exchanged. Courtesies were extended. The weather was discussed, the Queen’s blooming health was touched on, the vigour and charm of the Queen Mother marvelled at, progress on Basil’s book reported – then the Private Secretary threw in gently, ‘If you’ll forgive me, I must be on my way. I’ve had an urgent call to say my house is on fire.’


TUESDAY 15 MAY 1990


At TV-am ‘Dr Ruth’, a tiny American agony aunt, soft, round and ridiculous, a little bundle of fizzing energy, squeezed me tight, held my hand, and pressed her card on me with the words, ‘Call me, young man, call me anytime. I mean it. That’s the number. Be sure to call now. If you’ve got a problem, I’m here to help.’


THURSDAY 17 MAY 1990


I’m writing this on the train to Truro with Michèle.23 We’re off for three days’ civilised filming: Trewithian, Glendurgan, Mount Edgcumbe.24 There’s an hilarious picture of John Selwyn Gummer25 on the front page of The Times: ‘Where’s the beef? Mr John Gummer pressing a burger on his reluctant daughter Cordelia, aged four, at Ipswich yesterday to underline his message that beef is safe.’ Jim Henson and Sammy Davis Jr have died. The joy of a train journey like this is it gives you the time and space to read the obituaries with a clear conscience. Jim Henson is one of my heroes: a true innovator. He gave us the original Fozzie Bear to put on show at the Teddy Bear Museum.26


TUESDAY 22 MAY 1990


Breakfast with Richard Harris,27 lunch with Wayne Sleep,28 late supper with Jo and Stevie.29 And in between all the laughter and campery, real anguish. Royal Britain is going to fail. Four years’ endeavour going up in smoke. It’ll cost us £100,000 plus. It’ll cost poor Richard [Earl of Bradford] millions.


WEDNESDAY 23 MAY 1990


The word from Bucharest: ‘Mrs Edwina Currie,30 attired in bright red shoes and red polka-dot dress, walked into a Balkan-style controversy yesterday as she praised the conduct of an election won by a crypto-communist landslide that opposition politicians have likened to the vote-rigging practised under Nicolae Ceausescu.’


The word from the Barbican is similarly tragic-comic: J. Paul Getty Jr is not intrigued; John Broome calls to have another look round, but bows out by phone from Heathrow at 4.30 p.m. Richard battles valiantly with Frank (the bank manager) for an extra £50,000 to get us through the next fortnight. Richard: ‘We’ve a man flying in from Canada on Sunday and tomorrow we’re seeing Prince Rupert Lowenstein who manages the finances of the Rolling Stones.’ (This last provokes a coughing spasm from Michèle and hysterical giggles from me.) Richard keeps going: ‘A man is flying in from Canada, Frank. He’s coming from Toronto. It’s a long way to come to say “no”!’


BANK HOLIDAY MONDAY, 28 MAY 1990


Twenty years to the week since I started my Finals at Oxford (Scholar, President of the Union, editor of Isis, jeunesse d’oré, so much promise!)


I find myself in a television studio at break of day (5.00 a.m.!), the early morning toast of the ITV Telethon: standing on my head, unravelling the world’s biggest jumper, leading the dawn sing-along with Rustie the Caribbean Cook. Something’s gone wrong somewhere.


TUESDAY 29 MAY 1990


Went to lunch with Roger Levitt at Devonshire House, 1 Devonshire Street, round the back of the BBC. It was all very smooth and indulgent. I was there to follow through his promise of £50,000 for the appeal. By the time we got to the coffee it was clear it wasn’t going to be forthcoming. Instead: ‘Now, Gyles, what you should be doing is letting us look after all your insurance and pension and investment business – and introduce us to your show business friends. Give us the names and addresses, bring ’em in, bring ’em to lunch, that sort of thing. You’ll be doing them a favour – and you’ll get commission – good commission – you can give it to the charity, keep it for yourself, that’s up to you.’


He combines the look of a Mexican bandit with the manners of a North Finchley wide-boy. After lunch he took my arm and escorted me down the stairs and into the street. His Roller was waiting, purring, at the door, chauffeur at the wheel.


‘Hop in, Gyles, hop in, it’s yours – wherever you want to go.’


‘I’m only going to the Underground.’


‘It’s yours, Gyles – get in, get in.’


He positively pushed me into the back seat and slammed the door and stood waving cheerily on the pavement as the car drove off. We turned the corner and I asked the driver to drop me at Great Portland Street tube.


WEDNESDAY 30 MAY 1990


The Canadian saviour flew in and flew out. No go. It’s all over. I’m now on the train to Cambridge for a meeting at Bidwells in Trumpington where we are gathering to discuss the timetable and detail of the liquidation. If the bank had allowed us up to £1.5 million, with Richard’s guarantee, we would have had the rest of the year to find a purchaser. The banks are bastards. Always have been. Always will be.


SATURDAY 2 JUNE 1990


A bleak week. Late on Wednesday afternoon I saw the staff at Royal Britain one by one and told them the news. I did it as well as I could and stayed pretty steady until I got to the last of them who was so decent about it that I couldn’t quite stop the tears welling and the lump in the throat. It was a good idea: we just got it wrong. The liquidators arrived on Friday morning, full of the jolly banter of the professional mortician. And last night we had a late consolation supper with Simon [Cadell] and Stevie and Jo. Jo was wonderful: ‘Tchah! bah! baff! piff-paff! Away with despair, to hell with woe!’


SUNDAY 3 JUNE 1990


I am on the sleeper to Liverpool at the end of a funny, thought-provoking day. It began at TV-am where I’m doing Sundays as Ann Diamond’s side-kick. Norman St John-Stevas31 arrived as a complete self-parody: hooded eyes, luminous nose, teasing mouth.


‘Gyles is very charming, isn’t he?’ he murmured to Anne.


‘Yes,’ said Anne.


‘Exactly.’ Norman closed his eyes. ‘That’s why you mustn’t trust him. Charming people are never to be trusted.’


Edward Fox32 and David Owen33 were the main guests. We invited them to taste-test the new range of British Rail sandwiches designed by Clement Freud34 and then turned to the overnight news: the sad death of Rex Harrison.35 Because Edward had recently been appearing with Sir Rex in The Admirable Crichton, Anne looked to him for some appropriate actor-laddie reminiscences. The poor girl didn’t get far.


Anne: Did you know Rex Harrison?


Edward: Yes.


Anne: Did you like him?


Edward: Yes. Ver’ much.


Anne: What was he like?


Edward: Erm … er … a genius.


Anne: What kind of genius?


Edward: (pause) A genius.


Anne: But how did the genius manifest itself?


Edward: (pause) Either the sun shines. Or it doesn’t.


Anne: He was very much a stage actor?


Edward: Yes.


Anne: And films?


Edward: Yes.


Afterwards, I joined David Owen for breakfast in the canteen. He was going on to meet up with his SDP colleagues to decide whether or not to disband their party in the wake of their dismal showing in the Bootle by-election. He said that while his party might now be dismissed as a joke, he believes that he personally still has credibility.36 He quoted a couple of opinion polls showing that the public would rather have him as Prime Minister than either Margaret Thatcher37 or Neil Kinnock.38 He prophesied that the general election will be very close, with Thatcher the victor by a narrow margin (‘They vote for her hating her because they know where she stands’) and his hope is that in the run-up to the election the polls will show it to be so close that Kinnock will turn to him to deliver key votes in key marginals. He says he will stand out for a few concessions – the Scottish Assembly, proportional representation in the Euroelections – and in the event of a narrow Labour victory he can see himself as a possible Foreign Secretary. ‘It can’t be Kaufman.39 Kinnock would do better to bring Healey40 out of retirement for a couple of years.’ He isn’t bothered that Kinnock’s no intellectual titan. ‘He’ll manage the party and the civil servants can run the country.’ I hoovered up the bacon and baked beans. He ate a single orange and then went out into the forecourt where half of Fleet Street seemed to be waiting to photograph him. It was an exciting conversation and it’s left me thinking: if I don’t stand in this election, I’m going to have to wait another five years. Go for it, boy.


MONDAY 4 JUNE 1990


David Owen hogs the headlines: ‘Decade of hope ends in humiliation … Owen’s odyssey from giddy heights to political failure … Owen – the great might-have-been.’ SDP RIP. What does David Sainsbury41 do with his money now?


Up on the Wirral we have a good day. It’s the opening of the Inner City Village Hall. HRH is very mellow. The only problem is the weather. As we await the royal arrival, the wind blows and the hapless ladies in the line-up battle to keep their hats on and their skirts down. Inevitably, as it lands, Prince Philip’s helicopter makes matters worse and most of the bobbing up and down, the curtseying and the handshaking, is done with left hands on head and skirts bunched and held steady between knocked-knees.


SUNDAY 10 JUNE 1990


The failure of Royal Britain is the lead story in the Mail on Sunday financial section:




Unicorn Heritage, the brainchild of TV presenter Gyles Brandreth, has folded. The company, which raised over £7 million to stage a permanent exhibition of the monarchy at London’s Barbican Centre, is to go into voluntary liquidation … Unicorn was sponsored by BES specialists Johnson Fry. ‘I told investors from Day One that the company would either make you a fortune or lose all your money,’ said chairman Charles Fry.





The truth is the idea was okay, but the product wasn’t quite right, the initial management wasn’t quite right, the marketing was off-target and the location was a disaster. Bugger. Bugger. Bugger.


MONDAY 25 JUNE 1990


On Friday I was at the Connaught Rooms for the Unicorn Heritage Creditors Meeting – a humiliation and a nightmare. On Saturday I was back at the Connaught Rooms presiding over the National Scrabble Championship Finals! I am described on the front page of today’s Times as ‘the high priest of trivia’. Michèle says, ‘If your claim to fame is that you founded the Scrabble Championships and you go on wearing those silly jumpers, what do you expect? People will take you not for what you are, but for what they see. That’s life.’ Bah.


Long letter from Windsor Castle. HRH has been brooding about the Inner City Village Hall:




I think it should be possible to refine the design with a view to reducing costs still further. For instance, there is a lot of wasted space above the changing room and office area. It might be worth looking at the idea of putting the changing rooms etc. area outside the main hall as a ‘lean-to’. The ‘lean-to’ could then be fitted on to the hall in the most convenient place. This would also add some flexibility to the design by adding it either at one end or along one side or the other…





We go to Wimbledon, the royal box. It’s a treat and lovely to be asked etc., but we mustn’t accept again. The lunch is jolly (ish), but the tennis is wasted on me. I have not the least idea what is going on.


FRIDAY 13 JULY 1990


The hottest day of the year finds us filming in the glorious garden of Hadspen House. Tomorrow, Stourton. Sunday, Stourhead. Also feeling the heat is Nicholas Ridley42 who looks set to be booted out of the Cabinet having given an interview to The Spectator in which he declares that Germany is trying to take over Europe…


MONDAY 20 AUGUST 1990


As the world prepares for war, the Brandreths prepare for Italy. President Bush is planning a lightning strike against Iraq as Saddam Hussein rounds up Americans, Britons, French and Germans in Kuwait. In Barnes we pack our bags because tomorrow we’re off on a lightning trip of our own – to Verona in Colin and Rosie Sanders’ private jet. It’s all right for some … It’s all right for us. This is typical of Colin: after the Royal Britain collapse he called and said, ‘You need cheering up. Let’s go to the opera.’ And so we are.


WEDNESDAY 22 AUGUST 1990


The Arena di Verona is amazing: a vast, outdoor amphitheatre, the third largest in the Roman world, seating 20,000 and more. Since AD 30 it’s seen Christians thrown to the lions, gladiatorial combat, bullfights, public executions, but tonight, for us, it was Tosca. We sat in the best seats in the house (of course), slim flutes of champagne in hand (naturally), surrounded by exhausted victims of corporate hospitality. Next to us, bewildered Japanese; immediately in front, a group who had started the day in Ohio and were fast asleep (all eight of them) way before the end of Act One. Even better than the show (a Philistine speaks!) was the post-Puccini supper – a late-night cold collation back at the hotel: antipasto di frutti di mare, wafer-thin carpaccio with rocket salad and parmesan, washed down with buckets of chilled Prosecco. As a rule I subscribe to the Noel Coward line that ‘work is more fun than fun’, but once in a while the soft life can be very sweet.


FRIDAY 24 AUGUST 1990


Wednesday night was sensational: the show rivalled the midnight feast! It was Zorba the Greek. At first, Colin was disconcerted to find it was a ballet, not an opera, but it was so fantastic, and such a surprise, such an unexpected treat, we were all bowled over. Essentially it was the ballet of the movie, with the Mikis Theodorakis score and Mikis in person on the podium! It was a life-enhancing triumph, my best ever night at the opera.


Yesterday was pretty good too. We flew to Venice for lunch. Colin hadn’t realised it was only down the road, so we’d hardly taken off before we landed. And in the evening we were back at the Arena for the Verona standard, Aida, through most of which Colin kept muttering ‘Where are the elephants? Where are the elephants? It isn’t a proper Aida without elephants.’


At the airport this morning it’s back to reality. We buy newspapers (‘Angry Bush takes a step closer to war’, ‘40,000 reserve forces called up by US’) and, now we’ve been part of it for seventy-two hours, notice that the private-jet-set get a tangibly mixed reception. We’re whisked past the bucket-shop hoi polloi, to be sure, but our passage through customs and passport control isn’t so smooth: there’s a fair bit of that just-because-you’re-filthy-rich-don’t-think-you’re-getting-any-special-treatment-from-me atmosphere in the air.


THURSDAY 30 AUGUST 1990


This may be the day that changes my life. I hope so.


As far back as I can remember I have wanted to be a Member of Parliament. At Betteshanger, in 1959, I was the Liberal candidate (age eleven). At Bedales, in 1964, I came out for Sir Alec.43 In 1970, the election that brought Ted Heath to power was held on the last day of my Finals.44 I took the train to London to vote, went back to Oxford to party, and returned to London again to be on call overnight at Television Centre as the ‘Conservative Voice of Youth’ (!), alongside Jack Straw45 for Labour. In the mid ’70s I toyed with getting myself onto the candidates list (but didn’t follow it through) and I’ve kept in touch (sort of) with Oxford contemporaries who are in there now, but until this year, this summer really, these past few weeks, I haven’t sensed that I was going to go for it, to make it happen. Well, now I am.


It’s really rather funny to be forty-two, to be aspiring to be a Member of Parliament, and to have not the least idea how to set about it. I probably appear as cocky and confident as they come: in truth, I’m as diffident and as uncertain as all get-out. Anyway, the point is: this morning I took my courage in my hands and called Jeffrey Archer.46 I began dialling (only Jeffrey’s number could contain the digits 007) and then – suddenly – lost my nerve and hung up. I sat looking at the telephone, staring at it stupidly, and then, saying to myself, out loud, ‘Don’t be such an idiot, pull yourself together man’, I picked up the receiver and dialled again. Jeffrey was there, and easy and helpful and kind.


‘Yes,’ he barked, ‘It’s about time. As I said to your mother, “If only he’d got on with it when I first told him to, he’d be in the Cabinet by now.”’


I don’t know quite how or where or when Jeffrey can have met my mother, but never mind. He explained that I’ll only get a seat if I’m on the official candidates’ list (which I knew) and that the man I need to see (which I didn’t know) is one Tom Arnold, son of the impresario, MP for Hazel Grove47 and vice-chairman of the party in charge of candidates.


I call Central Office right away. Tom Arnold isn’t there. I speak to a terrifying young woman with a triple-barrelled surname and marshmallows in her mouth. I don’t say who I am or why I’m calling – I mutter, ‘It’s not urgent, I’ll call back’ and hang up. But this afternoon (having discovered from Who’s Who that Tom Arnold also went to Bedales!) I write to him, saying here I am, this is who I am, and can I come and see you? So the deed is done.


FRIDAY 7 SEPTEMBER 1990


A letter arrives from Mrs Camilla Barnett Legh, Candidates Department, Conservative Central Office: ‘Sir Thomas Arnold has asked me to thank you for your letter of 30 August. Perhaps you would be good enough to telephone this office in order to make an appointment to see Sir Thomas at your convenience.’ We’re on our way! … Or so I think until I telephone Mrs Barnett Legh who tells me (from a great height) that the earliest, ‘absolutely the earliest’, Sir Thomas can fit me in is Monday 5 November at 3.20 p.m. An appointment two months down the road at twenty past the hour does not suggest an urgent desire to see me nor the prospect of an extended interview, but what can I do? Be grateful I suppose – and hope the election isn’t called meanwhile.


I still haven’t told Michèle what I’m up to.


SUNDAY 9 SEPTEMBER 1990


Mrs T. is on Frost saying she expects to be around for a good few years yet, certainly till she’s seventy. ‘Some people started their administrations at seventy.’ She’s ridiculous, but wonderful.


SUNDAY 26 SEPTEMBER 1990


The news is not good. The World Health Organization is predicting that thirty million people will have Aids by the year 2000. The Chancellor of the Exchequer48 is forecasting ‘the most difficult few months of the cycle’. And Michèle is saying, ‘The recession is coming. We’ve got to batten down the hatches.’


SATURDAY 6 OCTOBER 1990


Hot news: Britain is to join the European exchange rate mechanism on Monday when interest rates will be cut by 1 per cent to 14 per cent. Everyone agrees it’s a brilliant move: Major, Hurd,49 Kinnock, the Bank of England and the TUC. Nigel Lawson50 is euphoric: ‘I warmly welcome this historic decision which I have long advocated.’ Mrs T. is giving a press conference outside No. 10. ‘Rejoice! Rejoice!’ Naturally there’s heated speculation about ‘a dash to the polls’ – and I haven’t even had my frigging first interview yet!


Jill Bennett51 has died. I last saw her not long ago, very drunk at the Caprice. We embraced like long-lost lovers, but she hadn’t a clue who I was. I doubt any of the obituaries will feature one of my favourite filthy Coral Browne52 stories. As a girl Jill had had a passionate affair with a much older actor, Godfrey Tearle I think. Said Coral, ‘I never could understand what Godfrey Tearle got out of his relationship with Jill Bennett – until one night I saw her eating corn-on-the-cob at the Caprice.’


TUESDAY 16 OCTOBER 1990


These charity lunches are quite a burden. Making it happen, making it work, making it all seem effortless. Anyway, I put Joanna [Lumley] next to HRH at lunch today and it solved everything. She’s perfect and he’s charming and they looked as if they were actually having quite a jolly time. Small talk with royalty isn’t easy. Being normal with royalty is impossible.


There’s that great line of Joyce Grenfell’s mother: ‘When royalty leaves the room, it’s like getting a seed out of your tooth.’


FRIDAY 19 OCTOBER 1990


The Lib Dems have won Eastbourne with a 20 per cent swing from the Tories, Howe53 and Major are at loggerheads, the rift on monetary union is rocking the party, and this is the moment I choose to enter the fray! Maybe it won’t happen. Maybe I’m right not to have told Michèle. Maybe my destiny is to be the high priest of trivia. Today I had sessions on Puzzle World, the Butlin’s project, and the TV Joke Book. Tomorrow I’m in Stratford leading the Pudsey Bear Parade. And on Monday I’m at Merchant Taylor’s Hall hosting ‘The Barbie Summit’. Apparently, I’ll get to meet the original Ken and Barbie – ‘in person’.


So this is it…


‘Gyles Brandreth – who was he?’


‘Oh, you know – the poor man’s Jeremy Beadle.’


FRIDAY 2 NOVEMBER 1990


Geoffrey Howe has resigned in protest over Mrs T.’s attitude to Europe. ‘I can no longer serve your government with honour.’ There’s a wonderful picture in The Times of the Thatcher Cabinet in 1979. Eleven years later and there’s not one of them left. She’s eaten every single one … By way of tribute at the Caprice at lunch I chose steak tartare and was delighted Colin Moynihan hadn’t cried off. He’s fun, puck-like, and friendly. He seemed very sanguine about Mrs T.’s own prospects – rather less so about his own. He’s got a majority of 5,000 but on current form reckons that won’t be enough. I didn’t ask him about Tom Arnold. I’m not sure why. I think it’s partly awkwardness, shyness even, partly self-protection. If I don’t tell anyone I’ve put up for something, if I don’t get it nobody knows and I can pretend (even to myself) it never happened.


MONDAY 5 NOVEMBER 1990


‘Thatcher moves to fight off Heseltine54 threat’ was today’s headline. This I did not discuss this afternoon when I had my brief encounter with Sir Thomas Arnold MP. I reached St James’ station at three o’clock and contrived a roundabout route (via Victoria Station!) so that I walked into 32 Smith Square on the dot of 3.15. I was expected. A girl emerged, easy, friendly, and ushered me past a mighty free-standing portrait of Mrs T. in all her glory towards a little side door that led to what felt very much like the back stairs. Up we went, round bends, along narrow corridors, on and on, until we reached the great man’s door. She knocked. A grunt, ‘Come!’ She opened the door and in I went. The office was tiny, more a vestibule than a room, and Sir Tom, my sort of age but looking older, sat behind his small, sparsely covered desk peering over half-moon specs and effortlessly exuding the discreet charm of the seasoned Tory MP. We exchanged pleasantries (it turned out he was only at Bedales for about ten minutes) and then I came to the point. Could I join the candidates list? Sir Tom was cordial but non-committal. Then he turned to gaze out of the window, narrowed his eyes a moment, touched his mouth with a finger and said, as if thinking out loud, hardly above a whisper, ‘Officially, the list is closed. It’s all done and dusted. But … you never know.’ He turned back to the desk and flashed a crinkly smile. He opened a buff folder.


‘Here are the forms. If you care to fill them in and let me have them back, we’ll take it from there.’ He opened his diary. ‘Let’s meet again on, say, 19 December at 6.30 p.m. Will that suit?’


It won’t suit at all, but I said, ‘Yes, yes, of course, thank you, thank you so much.’


I was out by three-thirty, the conversation was brief and straightforward, but the combination of Sir Tom’s manner – the hushed tone, a certain urgency of delivery, a face with a touch of sadness in repose transformed by sudden brilliant smiles – and the smallness of the room itself gave the meeting an oddly conspiratorial quality. At Oxford I always felt a little hurt that no one had approached me about the possibility of joining MI6. I imagine the initial interview would have felt something like this afternoon’s encounter.


TUESDAY 6 NOVEMBER 1990


At noon I was at Buckingham Palace, standing outside the Chinese Drawing Room (or is it the Yellow Drawing Room and I think it’s Chinese because of the vases and the chinoiserie on the walls?), awaiting the arrival of HRH. As the clock struck he emerged from a door at the far, far end of the long corridor and I watched him walk towards me. He was alone and came quite slowly. It’s an odd thing to say, but he seemed almost vulnerable and for the first time made me think of my father. Anyway, we went through the ceremony – handing over certificates to worthies in the playing fields movement – and he laughed because I had arranged the group differently from the last couple of times – ‘Can’t leave anything alone, can you?’ – and he did his stuff with the usual aplomb and then wandered off to the next engagement (horologists I think he said).


I went on to meet up with Peter Marsh.55 From Greek prince to Greek god. Peter is decking himself out as a portly Adonis these days: gold at the wrist, gold around the neck, I swear there’s a gold rinse in the hair – and why not? He’s being fantastic with the appeal and he said something that struck home: ‘If you can’t convey the essence of your message in fewer than eight words, you’re not clear about your message. Slogans and catchphrases shouldn’t be glib; they should go to the heart of the matter.’ He’s certainly delivered for us. HRH and I burble on about playing fields and playgrounds, and the value of sport and recreation, and the threats and the dangers and the needs and whatnot, and Peter has summed it up in seven words: ‘Every child deserves a place to play.’


WEDNESDAY 7 NOVEMBER 1990


‘Hurd says Heseltine is “glamour without substance”.’


‘Heseltine says he won’t stand against Thatcher this month.’


Just as I need the Conservative Party to start thinking about me the buggers seem to have other things on their minds … Undaunted (quite daunted actually) I have now written to my three potential sponsors. The form requires ‘Names and addresses of three responsible persons who will support your candidature. These should include, if possible, one MP and a constituency chairman. At least one of your referees should have known you for ten years or more.’ I don’t know any constituency chairmen, so I’ve gone for my local MP (Jeremy Hanley)56 and two Cabinet ministers: one a former party chairman, John Gummer (whom I first met twenty years ago at one of Johnnie and Fanny Cradock’s parties when he was squiring Arianna Stassinopoulos) and William Waldegrave,57 since Saturday the Secretary of State for Health.


SATURDAY 10 NOVEMBER 1990


‘By-election disasters in Bradford and Bootle.’ ‘Heseltine steps up the challenge.’ ‘The recession will last until Spring.’ Very cheery. Yet there is better news in Barnes: I’ve signed to do my first commercial (should total £20,000) and I’ve told Michèle what I’m up to on the political front. Sweetened by the former, she seems fairly relaxed about the latter. I think she thinks it won’t happen. I think she’s right.


MONDAY 12 NOVEMBER 1990


My back has gone again. I cannot move at all. At all. I can’t get to the osteopath and until the spasm subsides apparently there’s nothing she can do here. I hate this when it happens, not just because I hate being trapped like this, but also because I know it happens when I’m tired and tense and anxious – and I don’t like to admit I’m ever tired or tense or anxious! Michèle says, ‘Oh God, not another mid-life crisis – spare us’, but in fact she’s being wonderful (as ever) and she’s cancelled everything for the next three days. I need to be up by Thursday for the Coopers Lybrand speech in Sutton Coldfield.


WEDNESDAY 14 NOVEMBER 1990


‘Howe attack leaves MPs gasping.’ I watched it on the box and it didn’t seem that devastating. Damaging certainly, but fatal? I wonder.


THURSDAY 15 NOVEMBER 1990


‘Heseltine flings down gauntlet for leadership’ – and proposes an early Poll Tax review, which has to make sense.


I’m on my feet again and off to see the osteopath at ten. I’ve used the three days in bed to draft and redraft my application form. ‘Why do you wish to become a Member of Parliament?’ ‘What makes you think you would be a good candidate?’ ‘What aspects of campaigning do you most favour?’ ‘What do you feel are your major strengths and attributes?’ The easiest page was the last one: ‘Is there any serious incident in your life or aspect of your character, either personal or business, which might cause you and the party embarrassment if they were disclosed subsequent to your selection?’ No. ‘Have you ever been convicted of a criminal offence?’ No. ‘In a typical year, how many days do you have off work because of illness?’ None. 1990 just isn’t typical…


William Waldegrave’s reply is in: ‘Thank you so much for your kind words about my new appointment. It was very thoughtful of you to write. I need all the encouragement and support I can get in what is obviously an enormous job – though a very interesting and challenging one. I would be delighted to be one of your sponsors. Please use my name freely.’ Hooray.


FRIDAY 16 NOVEMBER 1990


Gummer says yes. Two down, one to go. Meanwhile, on the main stage the Thatcher camp say they expect her to win on the first ballot, but one of the opinion polls says Heseltine as leader would give us a 10 point lead.


On the train to Sutton Coldfield I read the Muggeridge58 obituaries. He was a desiccated old tortoise, self-opinionated, self-righteous and when I fell out with the rest of the Longford Committee and published that diary of our antics in Copenhagen he tore me off a strip (‘and to think you have enjoyed nut rissoles at my table’). As a performer he had a certain style, but for all his professional piety and late avowal of the ascetic life, he was a dirty old man. I’m trying to remember who told us about having to break his thumb when he tried to jump her when she was making a phone call in the bedroom at somebody’s party. It wasn’t that long ago.


TUESDAY 20 NOVEMBER 1990


Letter from Jeremy Hanley:




I would willingly sponsor you for the candidates list although I think you have far more to offer the world than to waste your time traipsing through the lobbies of the House of Commons late into the night when you could be giving brilliant after dinner speeches. Personally I think you would be a superb Member of Parliament, but the life involves very little free time to pursue other careers, quite contrary to the popular view of MPs with their ‘noses in the trough’ or being very ‘part time’ members. Frankly I would send you straight to the House of Lords!





WEDNESDAY 21 NOVEMBER 1990


Last night’s vote: Thatcher 204; Heseltine 132. She was four short of the 56-vote lead she needed to secure an outright win. I watched it live and the way she swept towards the camera – ‘I fight on, I fight to win’ – was wonderful to behold. But the feeling seems to be it’s all over.


FRIDAY 23 NOVEMBER 1990


There’s a magnificent lead letter in The Times today. It runs to five words. Peter Marsh would approve. ‘Donkeys led by a lion.’


Apparently she began yesterday’s Cabinet meeting with tears in her eyes and a written statement in her hand: ‘I have concluded that the unity of the party and the prospects of victory would be better served if I stood down to enable Cabinet colleagues to enter the ballot.’ I watched her bravura performance later in the Commons. She was quite magnificent. ‘I’m enjoying this! I’m enjoying this!’ It was so impressive – whatever you thought of her – and rather moving, ditto.


SATURDAY 24 NOVEMBER 1990


A pleasantly late and liquid night with Jo and Stevie and Simon followed by an unpleasantly early start to get to King’s Cross by 8.50. I’m touring the New for Knitting shops.59 Yesterday, Ilkeston. Today, York. Another train journey, another good obituary. Roald Dahl60 has died. He was a genius, but odd to look at and really quite creepy to be with.


TUESDAY 27 NOVEMBER 1990


I spent a long day at Shepperton making the Birdseye Waffle commercial: eight hours to shoot thirty seconds. In the real world Mrs Thatcher is now backing John Major. I’m backing Douglas Hurd. In the world of Birdseye Waffles no one seems the least bit interested in who our next Prime Minister is going to be.


LATER


The result is in. Major, 185; Heseltine, 131; Hurd, 56. John Major becomes the youngest Prime Minister since Lord Rosebery in 1894 and Michèle tells me that my man coming in last is a useful indication of the reliability of my political instincts.


SATURDAY 1 DECEMBER 1990


There are now no women in the Cabinet (a mistake I would not have made) but Ann Widdecombe61 joins the government for the first time. The paper describes her as ‘a doughty fighter’. At Oxford she was a funny little thing. But mock not, Brandreth. She’s in the government. You aren’t.


SUNDAY 9 DECEMBER 1990


This weekend we went to see Benet’s Twelfth Night (I love that play), put up the Christmas tree (our best ever – I know I always say that, but I think this time it’s true) and, with champagne from Ros and Mart,62 toasted the house of Thatcher. The Queen has given Mrs T. the Order of Merit and Denis gets a baronetcy. (In due course it’ll be ‘Arise Sir Mark…’ That’s the irony.) Tomorrow at 10 a.m. I’ll be at the Dance Attic in Putney Bridge Road with a lordly title of mine own. It’s Day One of the Cinderella rehearsals and I’m reviving my Baron Hardup. Bonnie Langford is Cinders, Brian Conley (whom I don’t know at all) is Buttons, and Barbara Windsor (whom I know and like a lot) is the Fairy Queen. I’ve got third billing, above Barbara, which is all wrong, of course, shaming really, but there we are.63


WEDNESDAY 12 DECEMBER 1990


Tonight we are not going to Jeffrey [Archer]’s party. I wanted to go, but Michèle can’t face it. ‘All that nonsense of “Krug and shepherd’s pie”, and there are always too many people, and nobody wants to talk to the wives – ever. It’s just self-regarding men preening themselves, looking over your shoulder all the time for someone more interesting, more famous, more like them. Ghastly. Never again.’


We didn’t cry off from drinks with the Queen last night however. Perhaps it would have been better if we had. Neither of us was in tiptop form. When Her Majesty arrived, Michèle forgot to curtsey – and then remembered forty seconds into the small talk and suddenly, unexpectedly, without warning, bobbed right down and semi-toppled into the royal bosom. My performance was hardly more impressive. As the canapés came round I found myself in an isolated corner, stranded with Her Majesty, frantic for food (I hadn’t eaten since breakfast) but obliged to pass up on every tasty morsel that came past because the Queen wasn’t partaking and I somehow felt it would be lèse-majesté for me to be eating when she wasn’t. All I could think about was how hungry I was. My desultory attempt at conversation can best be described as jejune.


GB: Had a busy day, Ma’am?


HM: Yes. Very.


GB: At the Palace?


HM: Yes.


GB: A lot of visitors?


HM: Yes.


(Pause)


GB: The Prime Minister?


HM: Yes.


(Pause)


GB: He’s very nice.


HM: Yes. Very.


GB: The recession’s bad.


HM (looking grave): Yes.


GB: Set to get worse, apparently.


HM (slight sigh): Yes.


GB (trying to jolly it along): I think this must be my third. Recession, that is.


HM: Yes. We do seem to get them every few years – (tinkly laugh) and none of my governments seems to know what to do about them!


GB (uproarious laughter): Yes. Absolutely. Very good.


(Long pause. Trays of canapés come and go.)


GB: I’ve been to Wimbledon today.


HM (brightening): Oh, yes?


GB (brightening too): Yes.


HM (We’re both trying hard now): I’ve been to Wimbledon too.


GB (Exhilarated): Today?


HM: No.


GB (Well, we tried): No, of course not. (Pause) I wasn’t at the tennis.


HM: No?


GB: No. I was at the theatre. (Long pause) Have you been to the theatre in Wimbledon?


(Pause)


HM: I imagine so.


(Interminable pause)


GB: You know, Ma’am, my wife’s a vegetarian.


HM: That must be very dull.


GB: And my daughter’s a vegetarian too.


HM: Oh dear.


Well, I had had a long day, and she has had a long reign.


THURSDAY 20 DECEMBER 1990


I had my second encounter with Tom Arnold last night. I had been worrying about the logistics of it since he first proposed the date. I think it may well have been what brought on the bad back. Seriously. I knew I had to be – had to be – in two places at the same time: on the stage of the Wimbledon Theatre for the technical run-through of Cinderella and in Sir Tom’s office at 32 Smith Square, SW1. Happily the gods smiled on me and a moment or two before six, as my stomach churned and my back twinged, Michael Hurll (our director), bless him, announced the supper-break: ‘Back at seven, sharp.’ I had warned him that I had to ‘slip out for half an hour’ and I’d booked a black cab and had it waiting at the stage-door. I tore off my Baron Hardup costume, threw on my charcoal-grey suit, leapt into the cab and reached Smith Square at just gone 6.20.


I was ushered past a splendid portrait of John Major in the foyer (a month is a long time in politics) and led up the back stairs to the Arnold closet. I stepped into his room on the dot of six-thirty. A moment of banter, no more – ‘There seem to have been some changes since I was last here,’ I burbled: he laughed softly and gave nothing away – then I handed over my completed forms. He turned the pages. ‘Mmm … mmm … very good … Gummer, Waldegrave, Hanley … mmm … Hanley.’


‘I went for the local MP rather than the association chairman because I know the MP so much better,’ I said, as casually as I could. (I don’t know the local chairman at all, of course, but I have tried, consciously, not to lie outright at any stage in the process to date. This is Michèle’s influence.) He patted his lips with his fingers and half-closed his eyes. ‘Mmm … mmm.’ I had decided what I wanted to say before the meeting and I said it: ‘I appreciate I’m not on the list, but, while you’re processing this, if a possibility crops up, would it be okay for me to throw my hat in the ring?’ His face crinkled into a sudden smile. His eyes narrowed. He glanced furtively to left and right and then leant forward and in a voice barely above a whisper said, ‘I don’t see why not.’ He tapped the side of his nose and smiled again, and then opened up his diary.


‘Let’s see. We’ll next meet on Wednesday 23 January. Yes?’


‘In the morning?’ I said, as lightly as I could (I didn’t mention the matinee at two).


‘11.00 a.m.?’


‘Fine.’


At 7.03 p.m., on the stage of the Wimbledon Theatre the Lord Chamberlain (Ed ‘Stewpot’ Stewart) announced ‘His Excellency the Baron Hardup of Hardup Hall’ and I made my entrance – on cue, but in a charcoal-grey suit. The Ugly Sisters had a lot of fun with that.




1 GB has had a long involvement with the National Playing Fields Association: Appeals Chairman 1983–8; Chairman 1988–93; Vice-President since 1993.


2 Chief of the Defence Staff 1982–5; Lord Lieutenant of Greater London 1986–98; President of the London Playing Fields Society from 1990. (The Duke of Gloucester is patron.)


3 Hon Colin Moynihan, MP for Lewisham East 1983–92, former Oxford rowing and boxing blue, Minister for Sport 1987–90; 4th Baron Moynihan from 1997 and chairman of the British Olympic Association from 2005.


4 GB was a presenter with TV-am, the ITV breakfast station, 1983–90.


5 Broadcaster and cricket commentator, 1912–94.


6 Journalist, daughter of the Prime Minister


7 Theatrical agent and producer, father of comedian Jack Whitehall, friend of GB.


8 Simon Cadell, 1950–96, actor, GB’s oldest friend.


9 American singer.


10 An exhibition on the history of British royalty, conceived by GB, which opened at the Barbican in London in 1988 but failed to attract sufficient visitors to succeed.


11 President of the National Playing Fields Association from 1948 to 2012.


12 Colin Sanders CBE, 1947–98, inventor and entrepreneur, friend of GB.


13 Financier and insurance salesman, soon to fall from grace.


14 Contemporary of GB’s at Oxford. Daughter of Robert Maxwell, Labour MP for Buckingham 1964–70, publisher, soon to fall from boat.


15 Richard, 7th Earl of Bradford, chairman of the Royal Britain Company, Unicorn Heritage plc, friend of GB.


16 FitzRoy, 5th Baron Raglan, of Usk, Gwent; independent peer particularly associated with the housing association movement in Wales.


17 Frank, 7th Earl of Longford, minister in Labour governments 1946–51 and 1964–6. In 1971 Lord Longford set up an independent inquiry into pornography and invited Malcolm Muggeridge, Cliff Richard and GB, among others, to be part of the team. During the group’s fact-finding trip to Copenhagen Lord Longford met assorted strippers and GB stood on his head.


18 Member of the construction family, vice-chairman of NPFA, friend of GB.


19 GB’s son, then aged fifteen.


20 Art critic of the London Evening Standard.


21 Novelist and critic, 1917–93.


22 Journalist and biographer, friend of GB.


23 GB’s wife, writer and publisher Michèle Brown. They met at university and married in 1973.


24 GB and his wife were making a television series about West Country gardens.


25 MP for Lewisham West 1970–74, Eye Suffolk 1979–83, Suffolk Coastal since 1983; Minister of Agriculture 1989–93; Secretary of State for the Environment 1993–7; Baron Deben from 2010.


26 In 1988 GB and his wife opened the Teddy Bear Museum in a Tudor house in the centre of Stratford-upon-Avon.


27 Irish actor, 1930–2002.


28 British dancer.


29 Joanna Lumley, actress, and her husband Stephen Barlow, conductor, friends of GB.


30 MP for Derbyshire South 1983–97, Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State for Health 1986–8, friend of GB since university, was one of a team of parliamentary observers at Romania’s elections.


31 1929–2012; MP for Chelmsford 1964–87; Lord St John of Fawsley from 1987.


32 Actor.


33 MP for Plymouth Sutton 1966–74, Plymouth Devonport 1974–92; Labour Foreign Secretary, 1977–9; one of the founders of the Social Democrat Party, 1981, and its leader, 1983–7, 1988–90.


34 Writer, broadcaster, cook, 1924–2009; Liberal MP for Isle of Ely 1973–83.


35 Actor, 1908–90.


36 In 1987 the bulk of the SDP membership merged with the Liberals to form the Liberal Democrats. At the 1992 general election the rump of SDP MPs disappeared: David Owen did not stand, and Rosie Barnes and John Cartwright, standing as independent Social Democrats, lost their seats.


37 1925–2013; MP for Finchley 1959–92; Prime Minister 1979–90; later Baroness Thatcher LG, OM, FRS.


38 MP for Bedwellty 1970–83, Islwyn 1983–95; Leader of the Labour Party, 1983–92; later Baron Kinnock.


39 Gerald Kaufman, MP for Manchester Ardwick 1970–83, Manchester Gorton since 1983; shadow Foreign Secretary, 1987–92.


40 Denis Healey, MP for Leeds South East 1952–5, Leeds East 1955–92; Chancellor of the Exchequer 1974–9; shadow Foreign Secretary 1981–7; later Baron Healey CH.


41 A generous funder of the SDP whose wife, Susie, was at school with GB.


42 1929–1993; Secretary of State for the Environment; MP for Cirencester & Tewksbury 1959–92.


43 Sir Alec Douglas-Home, Prime Minister 1963–4, later Lord Home of Hirsel.


44 GB went to Betteshanger, a prep school in Kent, 1958–61; Bedales, a coeducational boarding school in Hampshire, 1961–6; and was a Scholar at New College, Oxford, 1967–70. Edward Heath, 1916–2005, MP for Bexley 1950–74, Bexley Sidcup 1974–83, Old Bexley & Sidcup since 1983, Leader of the Conservative Party 1965–75, Prime Minister 1970–74, was President of the Oxford Union in 1939. Thirty years later GB was President of the Union and, on one of the Leader of the Opposition’s visits to Oxford, GB was presented to him. Unfortunately GB was unwell and, on shaking Heath’s hand for the first time, threw up.


45 President of the National Union of Students in 1970; Labour MP for Blackburn since 1979.


46 Novelist; MP for Louth 1969–74; deputy chairman of the Conservative Party 1985–6; Lord Archer of Weston-super-Mare from 1992; a friend of GB since the early ’70s.


47 1974–92.


48 John Major, MP for Huntingdonshire 1979–83, Huntingdon from 1983; Chancellor of the Exchequer 1989–90; Prime Minister 1990–97; later Sir John Major KG, CH.


49 Douglas Hurd, MP for Mid-Oxon 1974–83, Witney 1983–97; Foreign Secretary 1989–95; later Baron Hurd of Westwell CH.


50 MP for Blaby 1974–92; Chancellor of the Exchequer 1983–9; later Baron Lawson of Blaby.


51 Actress, 1931–90.


52 Australian actress, 1913–91.


53 Geoffrey Howe, Deputy Prime Minister, Leader of the Commons and Lord President of the Council, 1989–90; MP for Bebington 1964–6, Reigate 1970–74, Surrey East 1974–92; Chancellor of the Exchequer 1979–83; Foreign Secretary 1983–9; later Baron Howe of Aberavon CH. John Major replaced him as Foreign Secretary in July 1989. Major became Chancellor in October 1989 when Lawson resigned.


54 Michael Heseltine, MP for Tavistock 1966–74, Henley since 1974; Secretary of State for the Environment 1990–92; President of the Board of Trade 1992–5; Deputy Prime Minister 1995–7. He resigned as Defence Secretary in 1986 over the Westland affair.


55 Founder of the advertising agency Allen, Brady and Marsh, he was helping market the NPFA’s fund-raising appeal. GB and Michèle bought their house in Barnes from him in 1986.


56 MP for Richmond & Barnes 1983–97.


57 MP for Bristol West 1979–97, a contemporary of GB at university. He was promoted to the Cabinet in the reshuffle that followed Geoffrey Howe’s resignation. Later Baron Waldegrave of North Hill and Provost of Eton since 2009.


58 Malcolm Muggeridge, writer and broadcaster, 1903–90.


59 GB was a director of a chain of specialist knitting wool retail shops.


60 Children’s writer, 1916–90.


61 MP for Maidstone, 1987–2010; a contemporary of GB at university.


62 Rosalind Ayres and Martin Jarvis, actors, friends of GB.


63 This was before her television renaissance in the BBC’s EastEnders.




















CHAPTER II


1991





WEDNESDAY 2 JANUARY 1991


New Year headlines: ‘Prospect of early election recedes.’ ‘Gulf war could mean tax rise, Lamont64 hints.’ ‘Visit by Major to Ulster will revive hope on initiative.’ ‘Marlene Dietrich has briefly emerged from years of seclusion to help save the studios outside Berlin where she made The Blue Angel.’


One of my proudest memories is of holding Marlene’s left thigh. Outside the stage door of the Golders Green Hippodrome, one night in 1964, Simon [Cadell] and I helped her off the roof of her limousine. Precariously, on spindly heels she teetered about on the roof of the car, blowing little kisses and distributing signed photos to the fans. She was wearing a black mini-skirt slashed to the waist (or so it seemed) and, as we helped ease her to the ground, Simon got the right leg and I got the left.


WEDNESDAY 16 JANUARY 1991


Iraq rejects last-ditch peace moves as UN Gulf deadline expires. Major wins cross-party support in Commons – though fifty-five Labour people abstained or voted against (quite useful in the longer term). Saddam is promising that ‘the mother of all wars will be waged’. Heath wants time for sanctions to work. Naturally. ‘No choice but war’ says The Times leader. No choice but Cinderella at 2.30 and 7.30 says GB. Actually, I’m rather enjoying it. It’s a good show, glossy, doesn’t hang around, and three grand a week. Bonnie, Barbara, Brian, Ray Alan (even Lord Charles, especially Lord Charles),65 they’re all troupers, doing it now just as their forebears would have done it a century ago. It’s a cosy company, a nice old theatre – we’re cocooned backstage, out there there’s the distant rumble of war – it could all have been scripted by J. B. Priestley. He’d have enjoyed a moment with me last night. There’s a small corner in the wings where I do several of my quick changes. There’s a makeshift screen and behind it propped on a wooden chair a long mirror lit by a single bare bulb. Just before the ghost scene I was standing ready in my knitted nightshirt when one of the dancers popped her head around the screen.


‘May I?’


‘Of course.’


She came round and pulled off her top and stood naked for a moment  shaking her hair loose in front of the mirror. She looked at me and smiled. ‘Sorry.’


‘Not at all.’ I tried to look at her face.


‘They’re small, aren’t they?’ she said, pulling on her top again.


‘No. Yes. I mean they’re charming.’


And she’d gone. I can’t help feeling a proper leading man would have handled the situation with rather more panache.


THURSDAY 17 JANUARY 1991


‘4.00 a.m.: Bombs rain down on Iraqi capital as war erupts in Operation Desert Storm.’


I had a disconcerting experience during the show tonight. I have three spots when I’m alone on stage, burbling to the audience, and during one of them I suddenly felt as if I was up in the gallery looking down on myself – I could see myself from a long way away, as if I was looking through the wrong end of the telescope, and I was this tiny figure in a ridiculous costume and I just wanted to laugh out loud at the complete absurdity of it. Instead, I dried – not noticeably, I don’t think – but, just for a second, my mind went blank and I had no idea where I was, what I was doing or what came next.


SATURDAY 19 JANUARY 1991


‘After just fifty days in office, Britain’s youngest Prime Minister this century has been forced to become a war leader. His hardest passage so far came during the pre-dawn hours yesterday morning. John Major had slept no more than two hours during Wednesday night as he received intelligence briefings on the first sorties against Iraq. He retired on Thursday night about midnight but aides woke him in the Downing Street flat at 12.45 a.m. The development they feared most had happened: Iraq’s launching of missiles against Israel, threatening a belligerent response that could detach the Arabs from the allied coalition.’66


How soon will I get to meet him? Will I get to meet him? Benny Hill is coming to the show today. That’s who the cast here all want to meet. He’s their kind of hero.


WEDNESDAY 23 JANUARY 1991


My third encounter with Tom Arnold. It’s the routine as before: I’m trundled up the back stairs, bundled along the corridor, ushered through his door into his cubby-hole as the clock strikes. (I imagine the secretary doesn’t come in because the room couldn’t fit three at a time.) Tom is as ever – charming, elusive, conspiratorial – but this time I’ve come prepared. No more pussy-footing, no more amiable small talk leading nowhere in particular. From my briefcase I produce a piece of paper and lay it on the table in front of him:


To: Sir Thomas Arnold MP


Coming from a large family, and as the chairman of a national body with affiliated associations in every English county, and as a director of a retail chain with thirty branches, I can claim links with many parts of the country.


Specifically I have direct business or family ties with each of the following  constituencies:


Hertsmere


City of Chester


Croydon Central


Brighton Pavilion


Castle Point


Chingford


I live not far from Croydon, and my associations with Chester and Hertsmere are particularly close, as my father and his family come from the former and my sister and her family live in the latter.


(Okay, so my father came from Hoylake, but Chester’s close. And if St Albans isn’t in the Hertsmere constituency it ought to be. And desperate times call for desperate measures.)


Tom considered my list and offered a crooked smiled. ‘You’ve been doing your homework.’


‘I’m keen.’


‘I see.’ He lifted the telephone with one hand and put his finger to his lips with the other. He gave me a knowing look and narrowed his eyes. He murmured into the receiver, ‘Hertsmere? The list’s closed, isn’t it? Yes, thanks.’


The upshot is this: I can send my CV to the constituency chairmen at Chester, Croydon, Brighton, Castle Point and Chingford and Tom has said he will send my details to the Central Office agents in the relevant areas with the recommendation that I be considered for an interview. I am to see Tom again on Wednesday 6 March at 11.00 a.m.


At last, progress.


MONDAY 28 JANUARY 1991


The Duke of Edinburgh Birthday Committee meets. HRH will be seventy on 10 June and, with the Duke of Edinburgh’s Award Scheme, we’re planning a gala bash at Windsor Castle. Prince Edward is obergruppenführer. I propose Michael Caine as master of ceremonies and suggest we try Barbra Streisand for the cabaret, but it’s a large committee (there’s going to be a lot of talk) and it seems on the cabaret-front we’re already committed to Harry Connick Jr. (Who he?)67


FRIDAY 1 FEBRUARY 1991


Hundreds of Iraqis have been killed in the first real land battle of the war. It’s getting dawn-to-dusk coverage on radio and TV, and most nights I tune in briefly after the show. I didn’t tonight, because I went with Bonnie and Barbara and Brian to an end-of-run celebration at Joe Allen’s. We laughed a lot, gossiped, they talked about their plans. I got Barbara talking a bit about the Krays (‘they only ever killed their own’) but it was really showbiz-showbiz all the way. The war didn’t get a look-in. War in a distant land (even when our boys are involved) is not a topic much touched upon by the Wimbledon Theatre panto players – though I did make Barbara laugh telling her the story Beverley Nichols told me years ago.68 It was during the darkest days of the Second World War. John Gielgud69 went to stay with Beverley in the country and, on Sunday morning, Beverley got up early to fetch the papers from the village shop. Gielgud had got there first and was sitting in the kitchen surrounded by all the newspapers, with headline after headline blaring doom and gloom, news of setback and disaster on almost every front. Gielgud was ashen-faced, shaking his head in despair. ‘John, what on earth has happened?’ ‘The worst,’ wailed Gielgud, ‘Gladys has got the most terrible notices!’


SATURDAY 9 FEBRUARY 1991


‘Iraqis morale wilts under allied onslaught.’ Mine has rather wilted too. And the country has disappeared beneath a blanket of snow.


WEDNESDAY 13 FEBRUARY 1991


Ash Wednesday. Mrs T.’s monetarist gurus have written to The Times warning of ‘a 1930s style depression’ and calling for interest rate cuts. Saddam pledges to talk to Moscow and fight on. And I go to Stratford-upon-Avon to meet Sooty – in person – at the Teddy Bear Museum. Once he’s got the glove on, Matthew Corbett suddenly becomes quite charismatic and Sooty (complete with water pistol aimed straight at the local press) is a true star. I present him with the ‘Teddy’, the Museum’s answer to the Oscar, a lifetime achievement award given to those bears who have ‘shaken paws with immortality’.


FRIDAY 15 FEBRUARY 1991


Kinnock sacks Short70 because she won’t keep quiet about the war. The jobless figures head for two million. And I head for Croydon where I’m addressing the Croydon Playing Fields Association and, incidentally, hoping to impress any Croydon Conservatives who happen to be in the audience. I sit with Bernard Weatherill,71 who is easy, urbane, chatty (reminds me of John Profumo) but clearly doesn’t see me as a political figure at all. Why should he?


THURSDAY 21 FEBRUARY 1991


Hallelujah! A letter from the City of Chester Conservative Association: ‘The shortlisting has now taken place and I am pleased to say that we would like you to attend an interview on the weekend of 1–3 March. The format of the interview will be questions from the chairman, a ten-minute speech by you without notes on a subject of your choice, followed by further questions from the Interview Panel.’ It is simply signed, ‘Vanessa. Agent.’


I call her first thing. She sounds friendly, jolly and quite young. I ask to be booked in for the last slot of the weekend: 3.00 p.m. on Sunday the 3rd.


By odd coincidence, tonight we’re going for dinner with the Nimmos72 – one of the last establishments in London (and certainly the only flat in Earl’s Court) where they still have liveried footmen waiting at table and the ladies retire to leave the gentlemen to their port and filthy stories. If it hadn’t been for Derek I wouldn’t have been to Chester even once. He goes there for the racing and, a few years back, suggested Michèle and I take a look at it as a possible location for another attraction like the Teddy Bear Museum. We went for a weekend and liked it a lot, but it was too far from London and the rents were ridiculous.


I told Michèle about the interview and her first response was, ‘It’s fucking miles away!’ There wasn’t a second response.


WEDNESDAY 27 FEBRUARY 1991


I am writing this in the Reference Room on the first floor of the Chester Public Library. I am speaking in Harrogate tonight and I’ve come via here for a quick recess. I got the 7.25 from Euston, reached Chester at 9.57 and walked into and around the centre of the town. On the basis that the other candidates will be drawn from the Central Office list, veterans of the circuit with standard set-piece speeches, my aim is to wow them with my local knowledge – and I’ve got it all here now: the population, the workforce, the balance of services to manufacturing, the unemployment, the poll tax, the county structure plan, the Chester district plan, the proposed park & ride, the works. I’ve been through six months worth of the local paper – it’s as dreary and parochial as they come (and clearly hates us [Conservatives]) but it’s full of useful local guff. There’s nary a mention of the incumbent,73 lots on the Labour Euro MP74 and picture after picture of the Labour prospective candidate, a bearded teacher called David Robinson. I began by trawling the Rolls of the Freemen of the City of Chester (1392–1700) without much joy, but I’m feeling pretty good all the same. Leafing through Wills at Chester, look who I’ve found: ‘Elizabeth Brandreth, deceased, 1591.’ A forebear! Who could ask for anything more?


THURSDAY 28 FEBRUARY 1991


I’m going from Harrogate to York, from York to Birmingham, from Birmingham to London. ‘Bush calls Gulf ceasefire but warns Iraq not to fight back.’ ‘Major keen on June poll.’ Wouldn’t it be wonderful to be selected in March and elected in June? Who could ask for anything more?


SUNDAY 3 MARCH 1991


I’m on the train coming home from the initial interview. It went well. I was appallingly nervous, but I don’t think it showed. I came up last night and booked myself into the Grosvenor Hotel (owned by the Duke of Westminster who, I imagine, is about the only person who can actually afford to stay there: it’s very lush and very pricey). I ordered room service for supper and breakfast and lunch and just paced the room running and rerunning my speech. It was personal and passionate (and ridiculous – I know), but it felt as if it was doing the trick: ‘It’s been my ambition to represent a Cheshire seat in Parliament since I was a small boy. My father, my grandfather, my great-grandfathers going back to Dr Joseph Brandreth who first came to Chester in the 1770s were all born and bred in this part of the world…’ I played the local card for all it was worth, gave them my Iain Macleod story,75 did the family stuff, the visionary stuff, why I am a Conservative (‘Why we are Conservatives – we believe in building a better world, a world built on principles, the principles of freedom, independence, initiative…’) I went for a ralentando at the finish to tug at the heartstrings. ‘I believe passionately in the values of our party. I know and love the City of Chester. We have such a great cause. This is such a special constituency. How I would love to be your candidate.’ Well, I convinced myself anyway. And I liked them. And I think they liked me.


MONDAY 4 MARCH 1991


Vanessa has called. I’m through to the next round. They’re down from around two dozen to about six. There’s a candidates’ reception on Friday evening (‘for yourself and spouse, lounge suit’) hosted by the Association’s President – i.e. the Duke of Westminster – and a much fuller interview on Saturday. ‘This will take the form of a brief summary of your position on the Community Charge, followed by a fifteen-minute presentation on what would be in your manifesto for the election.’ I asked if I could again be the last one to be seen. She laughed and said yes. She’s rather plain and horsey, but there’s a gawky Carol Thatcher energy to her that I like. Tom Arnold’s office has also called. My meeting with him is postponed to Thursday, but I’m going to Central Office anyway today to pick up briefing material. As I write I can’t pretend to have much grasp of the detail of our policies, but it’s still only Monday…


WEDNESDAY 6 MARCH 1991


A rather drunken encounter with Wayne Sleep last night was followed by an extraordinarily indulgent lunch with John and Patti Bratby today. They took us to the Savoy to celebrate John’s retrospective at the National Portrait Gallery. Patti was in one of her favourite rubber rigouts and John was looking more like Raymond Briggs’s Father Christmas than ever. We had a wonderful window table overlooking the river and so much champagne that halfway through the main course John began to slide beneath the table – literally. Kaleidoscope was coming to interview him at 4.00 p.m. so Patti decided to take him up to bed for a recuperative snooze. He pottered off on her arm beaming benignly and waving to his public as he went.


THURSDAY 7 MARCH 1991


Castle Point, Brighton and Croydon Central don’t want to see me. Is this because they don’t like the look of my CV or because Sir Tom has warned them off me? I don’t know and I don’t ask. When I’m closeted with him today his manner is more conspiratorial than ever. ‘Mmm, mmm, it’s going well,’ he murmurs, sotto voce, ‘Going well. They seem to like you. So far. But it’s early days. Can’t be too careful. Mustn’t take anything for granted.’ He picks up the telephone and turns away from me and whispers urgently into it. A girl knocks on the door and hands him a document. It’s a speech by John Major. He glances around the room. Evidently this is very hush-hush.


‘This hasn’t been delivered yet, but there’s a phrase here I think you might find useful.’ He points to the headline and raises a triumphant eyebrow. ‘“A society of opportunity”. Mmm. That’s the line, isn’t it? A society of opportunity. What do you think?’


‘Good,’ I say. ‘Very good.’


‘Call me on Monday. Let me know how you get on.’


FRIDAY 8 MARCH 1991


This is my forty-third birthday and John Major’s hundredth day as Prime Minister. We are travelling to Chester on the 11.35 from Euston in the wake of the Ribble Valley by-election. The Lib Dems have overturned our majority of 20,000. ‘Setback to prospect of early election as Conservatives lose their tenth safest constituency.’ The recession and the poll tax are twin killers – but if I’ve got to explain away the one and justify the other, I will!


SUNDAY 10 MARCH 1991


It’s Mothering Sunday and if Chester went well I’ve got to put it down to the mother of my children. At the Friday night drinks with the Duke of Westminster – in the Venetian Suite of the Grosvenor Hotel – my darling girl was utterly fantastic. She looked exactly right; she played the part to perfection. She was better than the Princess of Wales would have been. She worked the room and they lapped her up. The chairman of the women’s committee was Russian-born and Michèle even managed to charm her in Russian. What a woman, what a wife! I tried not to overdo it – not altogether successfully. I said to the Duke (whom I met years ago, around the time of his twenty-first birthday, when I was sent to interview him for Woman magazine) ‘May I call you Gerald?’ which was certainly a mistake. He was easy-going and perfectly charming (great black bags under his eyes, cigarette constantly on the go), but I sensed he was wary of me, so after my first sortie with him I steered clear. I don’t think he’ll be voting for me, but I felt the others might.


On Saturday the format was as before: fourteen inquisitors in a horseshoe around the candidate seated at a small card table. The Community Charge stuff was fine – I remembered all the figures and trotted out the Central Office brief.


For my manifesto:




I begin with first principles. I am a Conservative because I believe in freedom – individuality – choice – initiative. I know they can deliver what we want for ourselves and our children: a society that’s happier, healthier, more prosperous, more open – what John Major calls ‘a society of opportunity’. A society of opportunity, a compassionate society, a society that prospers and uses its prosperity to create a better quality of life for all.





It felt as if it was working. Thank you, Sir Tom!


I was okay-ish on the questions – except on farming. I’d done no homework on farming. I know nothing about farming. But that didn’t seem to matter. The room was with me. When it was over I made for the loo and when I emerged they were all coming out of the interview room. A couple of the women whispered ‘Well done!’ as they passed, and the chairman – on crutches, he’s ex-RAF, avuncular, Mr Pickwick meets Mr Punch – came struggling up, rather embarrassed, and said, ‘Good show – but I forgot to ask – anything I ought to know – skeletons in the cupboard – that sort of thing – need your word.’


‘I don’t think so.’ I tried to say it meekly. ‘I think you’ll be all right with me.’


MONDAY 11 MARCH 1991


We were still in bed with the early morning tea when Sir Tom called.


‘It’s going well. Going well. But I think you ought to go and see Sir Peter Morrison. I sense he’s got one or two reservations.’


‘But he’s never even met me!’


‘Exactly – needs a bit of reassurance. He’s not certain about your contribution to the party. Give his office a call and see if he can fit you in.’


Then John Gummer called: ‘Peter Morrison will move hell and high water to stop you. He’s got his own man and doesn’t want you at any price.’


At five o’clock, on the dot, I rang the doorbell at 81 Cambridge Street, SW1. Sir Peter opened the door and beamed. He could not have been more courteous. He is tall, fat, with crinkly hair, piggy eyes, a pink-gin drinker’s face, effortlessly patrician, a non-stop smoker and a proper Tory grandee. (I checked him out in Who’s Who and the credentials are impeccable: Eton, Oxford, White’s, Pratt’s, son of Lord Margadale, his brother’s an MP, his sister is Woman of the Bedchamber to the Queen!) He introduced me to his secretary – ‘This is the real Member of Parliament for the City of Chester’ – and then we climbed the stairs to a little first-floor drawing room where he sat back on a sofa, glass in one hand, cigarette in the other, and I sat forward facing him, perched on the edge of my seat, willing him to see me as a surprisingly straight bat. Unfortunately he wouldn’t lead the conversation. I had to do the talking. I struggled. I asked him about the constituency and he answered in vague generalities. But he said there are going to be boundary changes that’ll make it safer. I asked him about the local press. ‘I never talk to them,’ he said with satisfaction. I asked him why he was giving up (he looks sixty, but he’s only forty-six): ‘When you’ve been a Minister of State, deputy chairman of the party, worked with the Prime Minister at No. 1076 and you know you’re not going to get into the Cabinet – and I’m not – it’s time to do something else. If I get out now I’ve got time for a second career. I’m going into business, going to make some money.’ After about half an hour we’d both run dry and he was getting restless, so up I got and off I toddled. He wished me luck and said if it went my way in the final round, he’d do whatever he could to help. I don’t know what was gained by the encounter, except he will have discovered I don’t have green skin and I own at least one sober suit as well as all those ghastly jumpers.


Tonight we had supper down the road with Peter and Sue.77 They were funny and generous as ever, but I couldn’t concentrate at all on the conversation around me. All I could think about was Chester. I’ve not told any of our friends (or family, other than Michèle, not even the children) what I’m up to. If it happens they’ll know soon enough.


TUESDAY 12 MARCH 1991


Dear Gyles,


 


I am writing to confirm you are now down to the final three in our selection of a prospective candidate. The procedure for the final selection meetings will be as follows:


 


a) Thursday 14 March, Executive Council Meeting, 7.00 p.m. at Rowton Hall Hotel.


Each candidate after a brief social meeting with executive council members will be asked a few brief questions by the chairman, then asked to make a fifteen-minute presentation on how they are going to retain Chester at the next general election, followed by questions from members of the executive council. Once all three candidates have been presented a ballot will take place. If one candidate gets more than 50 per cent of the vote they may choose to forward only one candidate to the general meeting. If not, at least two candidates will be forwarded to the general meeting. b) Friday 15 March, General Association Meeting at Christleton Country Club, 7.00 p.m.


If more than one candidate is presented then the procedure will follow that of the executive council. If only one is presented then they will be asked to make a speech, answer questions and there will be a vote on a motion proposing them as the next prospective candidate.


 


At both meetings we would be delighted if your spouse could attend.


 


Yours sincerely,


Vanessa, Agent


SATURDAY 16 MARCH 1991


Well, if that wasn’t forty-eight hours that shook the world, it was certainly forty-eight hours that changed our lives.


On Wednesday night we went to St Paul’s to see Nicholas Nickleby with Saethryd78 as The Infant Phenomenon. She was gorgeous. When she was on, I concentrated. The rest of the time, my head whirred with my speech, round and round it went, round and round. On Thursday (Michèle’s birthday, poor thing) we set off for Chester early and ensconced ourselves in ‘our’ room at the Grosvenor. (This is proving an expensive business.) At 6.45 p.m. we were at Rowton Hall Hotel, stomachs churning, smiles fixed. The other candidates appeared equally daunted: Sir Peter’s young man looked reassuringly unpromising, uncertain, ill-at-ease, but the woman looked – and was – formidable. She is called Jacqui Lait,79 she’s been on the circuit for years, she clearly knows her stuff. Her husband was even larger than her, bear-like, genial, supportive. Sir Peter’s candidate didn’t appear to have a spouse – another nail in his coffin. Vanessa said to me right away, ‘Sorry, you can’t go last this time. They’re on to you. We’re drawing lots.’


For the first half-hour we sipped our orange juice and mingled. This we did (let’s face it) so much better than the others. Michèle was a star – smiling, laughing, gladhanding, moving down the aisles, not missing a single row. She looked the business. She did the business. At 7.30 the chairman called the room to order, the executive council took their seats (there must have been about eighty of them in all), and we, candidates and spouses, were escorted to a separate sitting-room on the other side of the hall. The local papers were waiting to take our pictures. We each had to do a sad shot in case we lost and a happy shot in case we won.


The lots were drawn. I was second on. The speech went well. It was a bit of a toe-curler (‘If you choose me you will do me great honour. I promise I will do all in my power to do you proud’) but it had shape and purpose and the society of opportunity and as much local stuff as I could manage. The speech was fine, but the questions were a nightmare. Several I didn’t understand at all. There were councillors with points about local government that were utterly and completely beyond my ken. One of the first questions was about farm subsidies. I hadn’t a clue. I said, ‘I’ve written on my notes, “If you don’t know the answer tell them the truth” – I don’t know the answer, sir, but I’ll find out.’ It got a nice round of applause. But when I didn’t know the answer to the next question either, I realised I couldn’t play the same card twice so I just blathered and blustered and flannelled – and got away with it, just.


When I was asked if the children would move to schools in the constituency, I said ‘No,’ but when when they said ‘Will you live in the constituency?’ I said ‘Yes, of course. Accessibility is everything. If you choose me tonight, I move in on Monday.’


My turn done, we moved back to the sitting-room and Jacqui Lait went in. Michèle went to the loo and on the way back paused by the door to the hall. She came back and took me into a corner and said, ‘Don’t be very disappointed if you lose. She’s very, very good. She’s talking about Europe and she knows her stuff.’


I must say when she emerged from the hall, Jacqui looked like a winner. She glowed. While they counted the votes, we stood around, laughing nervously, drinking coffee, making small talk, making banter, saying what a shame it was the three of us couldn’t share the constituency – and, in the moment, even meaning it. Then, quite suddenly, the chairman was struggling in on his sticks. He paused, breathless, looked around the group then shot his hand in my direction: ‘Congratulations. The vote was decisive. You are to be our prospective parliamentary candidate. Well done.’ The others shrunk back, faded instantly, began at once to make their excuses and go. We mumbled hollow commiserations as the chairman and Vanessa pulled us away and led us triumphantly back into the hall. With Michèle I stood on the little platform at the end of the room and surveyed the standing ovation. It felt very good.


What felt best of all was getting back to our room at the Grosvenor and collapsing over a bottle of ludicrously expensive house champagne. I raised my glass to my birthday girl and she raised her glass to me. By George, we’d done it! Five years on the back benches, five years a junior minister, five years in Cabinet, with perhaps a brief spell in opposition along the way. That’ll see me through to sixty.


We slept well and woke early. It was the lead story in the Daily Post: ‘TV STAR IS CHESTER CHOICE’. All day we scurried about, to the constituency office, to the local paper, to the Conservative club, back to the hotel, back to the office. I took calls, made calls, shook hands, slapped backs, even blew my first kiss at a passing baby. What I didn’t do, couldn’t do, should have done was make time to rewrite my speech, so when we reached the Country Club for the ‘coronation’ I was painfully aware that certainly a third of those in attendance (there were 200 plus) had heard everything I had to say only twenty-four hours before. I struggled on regardless, giving it word for word as I’d done on Thursday night, but with much less brio – the oomph had gone out of me somehow – and, apparently, in floods of tears. On the platform I was seated immediately between the Duke and Sir Peter, who both smoked throughout, and, from start to finish, thick plumes of smoke rose vertically (and viciously) straight up from the ends of their cigarettes bang into my eyes. It was a nightmare. My mouth was dry, my palms were wet, my eyes were streaming. But the crowd was kind. They seemed to think it was a triumph all the same.


And now, it’s Saturday afternoon, we’re back in London, and – this is the odd bit, the bit I almost dare not admit – I feel flat already. What I’ve dreamt about for years, what I’ve striven for ruthlessly these past six months, I’ve got it. The prize is mine. And already I’m thinking, so what? (Aren’t human beings strange?)


THURSDAY 21 MARCH 1991


I slipped out of a fairly desultory DoE [Duke of Edinburgh] birthday meeting early to be on parade at the House of Commons for a five o’clock ‘briefing’ from Peter Morrison. Given that I wasn’t his choice, and he’s not really my type (and I’m certainly not his), he was as friendly as I could have wished. He marched me down to his subterranean office which was sparse but surprisingly spacious (‘I share it with a certain person,’ he smirked – I presume he meant Mrs T. – ‘that helps’) and we sat and looked at one another. The conversation didn’t exactly flow, but the gist of it was clear – and helpful: ‘You’ll need to spend about £2,000 a year of your own money on raffle tickets etc. and write an awful lot of notes. The troops like to get handwritten notes. Sometimes I do twenty a night. When the election’s called I’ll come down on day one to give you a send-off, then I’ll keep out of the way. It’s your show. Between now and then if there’s anything I can do, let me know. If you want my advice, never talk politics in the constituency. There’s nothing to be gained by it. On the great national issues, if you like, take the moral highground. You can’t go wrong. But on local issues, keep your head down. There are two sides to every argument. You can’t win, so don’t try. And anything to do with planning, don’t touch.’


He spread his hands out on his desk and pushed himself to his feet. ‘Now I am on my way to Committee Room 14.’ Another smirk. ‘I am proposing to give my colleagues on the 1922 Committee a piece of my mind.’


‘What about?’


‘Loyalty.’


SUNDAY 14 APRIL 1991


It’s a month to the day since I was selected and of the past thirty days I have spent twenty in Chester and ten on the run – rushing up and down West Coast Mainline like a yoyo, attempting to earn a bit of a living while proving to my would-be constituents that I’m all theirs all hours of the day and night. I’m going everywhere, doing the lot – from the King’s School Lenten Service to the amateurs in The Gypsy Baron. Mostly it’s fun – and I am determined to do it well, make it work. The only oppressive part to date is the locals’ obsession with my being local too. Whether you’re good, bad or indifferent seems to be neither here nor there: your local roots are what really count. I’ve had the same conversation a hundred times. ‘Where do you come from?’


‘My father was born in Hoylake.’ Slight reassurance.


‘Where are your children at school?’


‘London.’ Faces fall. ‘But, of course, when I’m elected I’ll have to be in London much of the time and it’s important to keep the family together.’ Lips purse like a bitter walnut.


‘And where are you living now?’


‘In Whitefriars, Number 5 – next door to where Basil Nield and his sister used to live.’


Sir Basil was MP here in the late forties.80 That reassures most of them – but the sharp ones with the angry little faces leave it a beat and then narrow their eyes and go in for the kill: ‘Yes, that’s where you’re renting, but where’s your real home?’


In fact, Whitefriars is a great success, but it isn’t cheap. And the fares aren’t cheap. And Sir Peter’s £2,000 pa on raffle tickets turns out to be no exaggeration. And what am I earning at the moment? Not enough. This week: the Radio 2 programme on Monday and the speech in Workington on Thursday night.81 Help!


MONDAY 22 APRIL 1991


I’m sitting in the train travelling from Wolverhampton to Euston when I should be in Stratfford-upon-Avon having lunch with the Prince of Wales. What a ridiculous three days. On Saturday I drove from London to Stratford for the Shakespeare Birthday Celebrations – I did my stuff: it was fine. I drove on to Chester where I spent Sunday morning tramping the fields on a sponsored walk, went on the Dale Barracks to meet the lads in khaki, on to the police station to salute the boys in blue and on to evensong at All Saints Hoole to reassure one of our ageing activists that I am ‘spiritually sound’! This old bird had phoned the office to say that she was concerned that I might not have the right religious values – she’s heard rumours – so Gwyn,82 there and then, volunteered me to go to church with her! In fact she’s quite a sweet old thing in a Miss Marplish way and she’s loyal to the cause (she’s kept every one of the multifarious handwritten notes Sir Peter has sent to her over the past twenty years) and the service itself was a revelation: the church was packed, young, old, (many more young than old), families with children, all fresh-faced and bright-eyed with happiness, singing, swinging, praying, swaying, getting the key messages from the deaconess’s sermon flashed up onto a screen above the altar. It may not be what John Betjeman and I think of as evensong but it was impressive all the same. I then went on to the Newton Committee Meeting and finally dinner at Hoole Hall.


Today I was up at the crack of dawn and racing down the motorway to get to Stratford in time for Prince Charles’s lecture when suddenly, alarmingly, thick black smoke began billowing from the engine. I moved straight onto the hard shoulder, jammed on the brakes, switched off the engine and waited for the belching smoke to subside. It did. I then laughed out loud. It’s all so silly – tearing hither and yon, and to what purpose? Anyway, for the first time ever the car phone came into its own. I called Jenny83 and she called the AA and within an hour I was being towed into Wolverhampton – not before the police had stopped to enquire what I was up to. The policeman recognised me and, when I told him where I had been going, he volunteered to get the police to look after the car while he would drive me personally to my royal luncheon engagement. He was quite pressing, and when I said no I think he was quite put out.


TUESDAY 23 APRIL 1991


I’m back on the train again. This morning the Youth and Sport Conference in WC1. This evening the Younger Women’s Supper Club in Chester. (I’m advised that the Younger Women are all supposed to be under fifty – and indeed they were when the group was formed. Now they are of riper years and several bring their mothers, who are comfortably into their seventies.) In the broadsheets Prince Charles gets plenty of coverage: ‘It’s almost incredible that in Shakespeare’s land one child in seven leaves primary school functionally illiterate.’ I think the Earl of Chester’s observations can be the springboard for my remarks to the Younger Women … David Owen is getting coverage too. Apparently ministers are ‘pressing for Owen to be given a government role’. Somehow, I don’t think that’s going to swing it on the doorstep.


SATURDAY 27 APRIL 1991


I had my ‘briefing’ with His Grace [the Duke of Westminster] yesterday. He looks permanently exhausted, but he has a nice manner, an engaging laugh, and he’s courteous, friendly and helpful – though it’s clear our relationship’s not going anywhere. I sit and ask him to tell me what’s what and I take notes while he explains that the government doesn’t understand the importance of hill-farming, the nonsense of set-aside, the dangers of leasehold reform, the plight of the TA. I realise that I’m a natural for the government as I don’t understand these things either! He must wonder why he’s having to bother with me. I know why I’m having to bother with him. He’s our President and he’s local royalty. They love him and all he represents. The activists get a physical thrill from simply saying the words ‘His Grace’. Working the room before last night’s dinner I said to several of them that I’d had a meeting with him during the day and I sensed as they held my hand they were conscious that they were holding the hand that had shaken the hand of the Duke of Westminster only hours before. The dinner – ‘Chester Meets the Brandreths’ – was fine, but my speech was too lightweight. They enjoyed the jokes, but they wanted (and didn’t get) some political punch and a Churchillian flourish.


Today it’s been local election canvassing, plus the Litter Week Photocall, plus the Callin Court coffee morning, plus a couple of mortifying hours standing outside two desolate shopping parades accosting shoppers who don’t want to stop: they want to shop. It’s becoming clear to me that much of what I’m doing I’m doing not to woo the electorate and win over wavering votes but to keep our activists sweet, to boost their morale, to reassure them they’ve chosen the right man for the job.


FRIDAY 3 MAY 1991


‘Any remaining likelihood of a June general election disappeared in the early hours of this morning.’ In fact, in Chester we didn’t do too badly. We gained one seat from the Lib Dems and the Lib Dems gained one from us and one from Labour. I started the day with a photocall for National Squint Week (no jokes, please) and then made my way to Mold for the Marcher Sound Jobline Launch – a complete waste of time. I went because the Welsh Secretary, David Hunt,84 was going to be on parade and I thought it would be an opportunity to introduce myself and get a pic for the local paper. In the event when I had forced my way through the crowd to shake the great man’s hand he had no idea who I was or why I was there, and the photographers in attendance certainly didn’t want me cluttering up the shots.


TUESDAY 14 MAY 1991


Last night we were invited for supper with the Deputy Chief Whip!85 He has a charming house in Lord North Street, a charming wife called Cecilia (birdlike and delightful, with one of those deceptively daffy Kensington manners – don’t be fooled by the tinkly laughter…), and a charming, disarming way with him. Lots of quiet chuckling. They couldn’t have been more friendly or hospitable. He’d invited us because his is the constituency adjacent to ‘mine’ and he wanted to ‘mark my card’. Also at supper was another Cheshire MP, Neil Hamilton.86 Dry and droll. I was on best behaviour: didn’t drink, didn’t talk too much, and didn’t find it as alarming as I’d feared.


I was grateful to the Goodlads too because my current acquaintanceship among MPs is pretty limited – though it does include Edwina [Currie], of course, who is in court this week suing The Observer over a film review which apparently likened her to a character who undermines her own marriage, sacrifices her children and resorts to murder to further her career. In the movie the part (a glamorous Euro-MP) is played by Charlotte Rampling and you might have thought that Edwina would be thrilled to be mistaken for Charlotte Rampling in any role – but no.


WEDNESDAY 15 MAY 1991


I’m on the 11.25, reaching Chester 2.07, then it’s BNFL at Capenhurst, the ‘Nursery Education for All’ meeting at Queen’s Park High School, and the Poster Committee Meeting at the office. Vanessa wants the posters in blue and day-glo pink. The traditionalists want blue and white. I want smiles all round. I predict an hour of wrangling – and Vanessa gets her way.


Edwina wins the day. £5,000 plus costs. Quote of the case: ‘I am not interested in personal publicity. Being well-known is an absolute pain.’


SATURDAY 18 MAY 1991


I found a Brandreth in the local phone book – and she lives in Blacon.87 In fact, she isn’t a Brandreth any longer, but her ex-husband is and her son is and this afternoon she’s hosting a little tea party in my honour … and, yes, I have invited the press along. I know it’s shaming, but there we are.


Other weekend excitements: the Mill View Primary School May Fayre, the Chester Rugby Club Beer Festival (I’ve had to sponsor a barrel – £80! – and I hate the taste of beer), the Chester Festival of Transport and the Sponsored Walk for the Hospice … and it seems I could face another year of this before polling day. The Prime Minister has ‘let it be known’ that he is prepared to wait until next year before calling the election to reduce the pressure on Norman Lamont for immediate interest rate cuts. Something needs to give. The recession is worsening, not easing, and judging from the doors I’m knocking on the punters are blaming us.


And even our friends don’t like us. Yesterday, doing a walkabout in Boughton, one of our elderly activists sidled up to me and said, ‘May I have a word?’


‘Of course.’ He must be in his seventies, small, stocky, cloth-cap, bent, red nose with a drip at the tip, the crooked man on the crooked gate.


‘I don’t think you’re going to hold the seat, I’m sorry to say.’ He looked delighted to be saying it.


‘Oh,’ I murmured, as cheerily as I could, ‘Why not?’ He drew in a long breath. ‘Any particular reason?’


‘Yes,’ he said, shaking his head.


‘Well?’


‘It’s your handshake. It just isn’t firm enough.’ He put out his hand and I stupidly put out mine and he gripped my hand so hard I wanted to scream.


‘That’s what you need,’ he said. ‘You don’t mind my telling you, do you?’


SATURDAY 1 JUNE 1991


‘Britain remains sceptical about single currency, says Lamont.’ Seems quite a good idea to me – and inevitable. But what do I know? I know that Saethryd has come to Chester and I’m feeling guilty because I’m taking her to the Chester Regatta and Flower Show and there’s a photo call and I’m making sure she’s in it because the word is that my Labour opponent’s marriage is in a rocky state and we can’t expect too many happy family snaps during his campaign.


THURSDAY 6 JUNE 1991


The birthday lunch for Prince Philip was a complete success. It was Ladies Only (apart from HRH) so I sat in a cupboard in a corner and watched the proceedings through a crack in the door. Michèle was perfect and Joanna [Lumley] was a dream – completely over the top and absolutely right. I allowed myself to attend the drinks beforehand and HRH was genuinely amused by the women-only idea. I told him Jane Asher had done a special birthday cake.


‘Didn’t she used to go out with Paul McCartney?’


‘Yes, but I don’t think she likes to be reminded of that.’


‘Pity. He’s good news.’


‘She’s good news.’


‘Yes, but Paul McCartney’s quite special.’


I was convinced the first thing he’d say to Jane was ‘Didn’t you use to go out with Paul McCartney’ but he didn’t. When irritated (or sometimes, I suspect, just for the hell of it), he can be perverse. His office get you to provide reams of speech notes which are never used. I was convinced he wouldn’t use the script provided for the moment when he had to ‘Challenge Anneka’ to build the playground at Birmingham Children’s Hospital within the week – but, apart from calling her ‘A-knee-cur’ he was spot-on.88


SATURDAY 8 JUNE 1991


It’s our eighteenth wedding anniversary and for a special treat I take my wife to the City of Chester Conservative Association Annual Salmon Supper at Eaton Hall – courtesy of Their Graces the Duke and Duchess of Westminster, both of whom are on parade, which is jolly decent of them. If I were the richest in the land, is this what I would be doing with my Saturday night? In truth, the event isn’t so much at Eaton Hall itself as in the garage at Eaton Hall. We huddle together for warmth as we dine alfresco in a cobbled yard bordered by garages and stables and we are very grateful to be adjacent to such grand surroundings despite the wind and the rain! I sit next to Her Grace and my banter comes across as over-familiarity and as she glazes over I can’t think what more to say so I decide to go for votes and work the tables. I then feel ashamed when we get to the auction and she bids a thousand pounds for one of my jumpers! Vanessa forces me to bid 300 plus for an art deco lamp we neither want, need nor can afford.


WEDNESDAY 12 JUNE 1991


Poll puts Labour ten points ahead. Major defends ‘unchanged’ Euro policy. Brandreth beetles off to Birmingham to be in attendance upon HRH as he arrives at Birmingham Children’s Hospital to open Anneka’s playground – genuinely built from scratch in  forty-eight hours flat.


SATURDAY 15 JUNE 1991


Last night I was at the Northcott Theatre, Exeter, giving the Hans Andersen show as part of the Exeter Festival. The house was full of people expecting Tommy Steele at least, Danny Kaye at best. Instead they got me and I felt – and shared – their disappointment. Tonight we were at supper in Sheen with Tim and Alison Heald89 and Tim’s old chum from his Oxford days, Chris Patten.90 Clearly Tim assumed that as a prospective candidate I would know Chris and Lavender, know them well, but, of course, I’d never met the chairman of the party and I rather sensed he’d never heard of me. Anyway, we each affected to know one another and the evening was reasonably jolly – except I felt I had to be on my best behaviour in the presence of the ‘boss’ and I think CP felt he had to be circumspect in the presence of an ‘unknown’.


TUESDAY 18 JUNE 1991


The Hilary Howarth Nursery School, the Cherry Grove Primary School, the Blacon Project Adventure Playground, the Farmer’s Party at Hatton Hall and, finally, the Euro-constituency AGM – a quiet affair. Up at Westminster Ted Heath is raging at Thatcher’s speech on the Union and challenging her to a TV debate (which would be fun) but here in Chester the Euro debate is rather less lively. I toe the line, strike the balance, go for the middle way, but I don’t think they’re terribly interested.


FRIDAY 19 JULY 1991


We’re flying to Venice today. I have mixed feelings about this both because of all the ‘vital events’ Jill Everett91 tells me I’m missing in Chester between now and the end of the month and because of my ding-dong with Prince Edward. He sent a pompous letter essentially berating the [Duke of Edinburgh seventieth] Birthday Committee for not pulling our weight – so I called the Palace and spoke to his office and said I thought he had a cheek. Edward called back and I didn’t let him get a word in: I just banged on about his pompous letter, reminded him we were all volunteers and said that I didn’t like being patronised or cajoled by someone several years my junior when I working my socks off for the good of the cause! He bleated an apology and I felt a whole lot better – but, of course, my response was quite as pompous and uncalled for as his letter. And now I’m leaving the country and I won’t even be at the wretched birthday celebrations. Michèle says no one will notice and, of course, she’s right.


WEDNESDAY 31 JULY 1991


We bought an English paper and there’s the picture of Prince Philip and Prince Edward at the birthday bash meeting Harry Connick Jr, ‘the new Frank Sinatra’, who pronounced the Duke ‘a real cool dude’.


As arranged, at 12 noon, as the clock struck, we met up with Jo and Stevie at the Caffè Florian. The Brandreths and the Barlows took Bellinis in the drawing room of Europe and we raised our glasses to absent royalty and agreed that Michèle had been right – as usual. Tomorrow we are lunching on Torcello, at my favourite restaurant in all the world. Ain’t life grand?


TUESDAY 6 AUGUST 1991


Returned to find ‘Dear Gyles’ letter from Prince Edward: ‘In spite of all the crossed wires (for which I apologise) and the bleak economic background, I felt that last weekend’s celebrations were a tremendous success. I know there were problems and that egos were bruised along the way … I trust there are not too many hard feelings about my earlier letter. It may have been a bit heavy handed, but there were a few worried people just prior to the event. Thank you for rallying round; I’m sure it made all the difference.’


Now I feel guilty.


SUNDAY 8 SEPTEMBER 1991


At 12 noon we gathered at Puddington for ‘Peter Morrison’s Annual Pimm’s Party’. This is a gala event in the Association’s calendar. Sir Peter provides the Pimm’s and the Conservative ladies provide ‘the bites’. Until I came to Chester I’d never heard of ‘bites’ – now I eat almost nothing else. You are what you eat and there are weekends at the end of which I think I’ve turned into a damp bit of bread and butter rolled round a limp inch of asparagus. The first – fleeting – moment of ‘tension’ between us and the activists came about because of the bites. Michèle got a message from Jill [Everett] saying she was expected to bring sixty ‘bites’ to an event and what would Michèle be bringing – sausages on sticks, celery filled with cream cheese, curried stuffed eggs? ‘Stuff yours’ was my darling wife’s reaction. That’s not what she said to Jill, of course. That’s what she said to me. She also made me phone the hotel and order three trays of canapés as our contribution. We’ve not been asked for ‘bites’ since.


The party was fine. We worked the marquee and listened to (but didn’t join in) the gossip about our host. Peter’s workers fall into two distinct camps: a minority think he’s past his sell-by date, that he’s let himself go, that he’s out of touch, that he gives out all the wrong signals, that he’s ‘let the seat slide’. The majority simply love the grandeur of the man. ‘Have you seen inside the lavatory? The pictures of Peter at Eton. Aren’t they wonderful?’


WEDNESDAY 11 SEPTEMBER 1991


Lunch at the Old Bailey as a guest of the Sherriff. After we’d eaten we processed along the corridor back towards the courts. I walked at the front with the judge who’d been sitting next to me. We came to a door which was opened by a court flunkey. Thinking that, as a guest, it was appropriate that I should lead the way, I did – and suddenly found myself on the judge’s bench in Court No. 1 with the clerk instructing all to be upstanding for Mr Justice Whatever-he-was-called – who followed me in, apparently amused, and invited me to sit next to him on the bench. It was a gripping case – fellow dead in a police cell and the brilliant barrister (Mr Nasty and Mr Smooth all rolled into one) making us believe it wasn’t his ugly-looking client, it was the police wot done it. As I left I told one of the clerks how impressed I’d been by the barrister (I believed him completely) and he said: ‘He’s famous. He’s Mr Mansfield.92 Looks after the IRA and all that sort.’


THURSDAY 12 SEPTEMBER 1991


Last night’s Granada drama on the downfall of Mrs T. – Thatcher: The Final Days – was gripping stuff. Sylvia Syms was a bit unlikely as Mrs T. and they should certainly have had Martin [Jarvis] as Heseltine – but for us, of course, the fascination was in the characterisation/demonisation of poor Peter M. If it hadn’t been for his complacency, his ineffective campaign on her behalf, his somnolence on the watch etc., she might have survived. That was the gist of it – and in the papers the knives are out for him.


This helps explain why he’s getting out. It may explain the drinking too. Of course, the programme didn’t portray him as either a lush or an old queen, though we can see he’s the one and we assume he’s the other. I think Jeremy Hanley takes credit for coming up with the line – at the time of Peter’s appointment as Mrs T.’s PPS – ‘Ah, at last Margaret’s got herself an aide who knows how to carry a handbag.’ At Sunday’s do at Peter’s place one or two were whispering behind their hands about his alleged sexual preferences – but I don’t think any of them is aware that Michèle and I have been told several times on the doorstep – in no uncertain terms – that the MP is ‘a disgusting pervert’ who is ‘into little boys’.


SUNDAY 6 OCTOBER 1991


Peter invited me to sit in on his regular NFU meeting. On a Sunday morning about four times a year he has six to ten farmers from our part of Cheshire come to his house to tell him of their travails. Peter says whether it’s eggs, wheat, beef, poultry, horticulture, they’re never happy, but they always arrive in Jaguars. The meeting lasted an hour. The farmers, all looking the part, sat awkwardly, in armchairs and on low sofas. Peter, the patrician Tory grandee, sat centre-stage, bolt upright on a dining room chair. He took careful notes throughout, nodded a lot, grunted once or twice, but said nothing and gave nothing away – until the end when he gave us all massive gins and tonics in huge cut glass tumblers. It was a masterly performance: he committed himself to nothing at all and had them eating out of the palm of his hand.


This afternoon, as I was working on my debut speech for the party conference, Francis Maude93 telephoned. I’ve not met him – I’ve met hardly any of them – but he was cordial, businesslike. He explained that he’s Financial Secretary to the Treasury (which I know), that he’s replying to Thursday’s debate on the Citizen’s Charter (which I also know), that the Prime Minister regards it as one of the key debates of the conference (which I doubt), and is there any pre-briefing that I need from him or anything that I am planning to say that he should know about so he can respond to it from the platform? I couldn’t think what to say or ask, and I didn’t like to admit that I’ve never been to a party conference before so I don’t really know the form. I just mumbled thanks and felt wrong-footed.


The moment I put the phone down I went back to the speech. It’s four minutes maximum. After three minutes they flash an amber light. After four the light turns red and they haul you off the podium. There really isn’t much time to develop an argument. I am trying to give what little I’ve got to say a bit of shape and substance, but it’s still a terrible mishmash of cliches and tub-thumping.


I’m impressed by Maude taking the trouble to call and I’m impressed by the way the whole conference is rigged. There are 1,411 motions submitted by Conservative associations across the land, 98 per cent of them pure grovel (‘This conference congratulates Her Majesty’s government…’, ‘This conference agrees with Her Majesty’s government…’, ‘This conference warmly welcomes…,’ ‘This conference wholeheartedly commends…’ etc.), 2 per cent mad maverick (Bring back Matron! Bring back hanging! Let’s hear it for the birch!), and the ones selected for debate are (quite properly) the ones that will provide the best opportunity for setting out and saluting the government’s achievements. All the speakers from the floor are carefully screened and, if you have plans for a future within the party, you’ll make sure your contribution does the two essentials: cheers the leader and toes the line.


Apparently in the run-up to a general election they always do their best to give opportunities to prospective candidates. I simply got a call from Central Office saying that my spot would be Thursday at 9.30 a.m.; my theme, the Citizen’s Charter; and my position, considered adulation. I didn’t argue.


I’m grateful.


MONDAY 7 OCTOBER 1991


I spent two more hours fine-tuning the speech (two more hours on a four-minute speech – and on the Citizen’s Charter to boot!) and then set off to be on parade for the Association’s Autumn Lunch, scheduled for 12 noon. (Vanessa is impressing on me that I must start turning up for things on time: if it says 12 noon all the old ladies will be there, ready and waiting, by 11.45 at the latest). Our guest of honour was William Hague,94 PPS to Norman Lamont, and excellent value: good jokes and a clear message. He also had energy and I’m coming to think that may be the secret of success in this game: controlling, maintaining, sustaining energy. We think we know one another because I was President of the Union about ten years before he was and he seems to recall several of my older jokes. The activists know him because he wowed the party conference as a boy orator aged fifteen. He doesn’t look much older now.


From three to seven I was out door-knocking in Christleton and Littleton. The Prime Minister has publicly ruled out a November poll and there doesn’t have to be an election before 17 July next, but Jill and Vanessa are insisting we keep hard at it. I suppose they’re right.


FRIDAY 11 OCTOBER 1991


What an extraordinary week. The party conference is an extraordinary phenomenon. Last time I was in Blackpool I came to interview John Inman, who was appearing in a summer season spin-off of Are You Being Served? Even if there aren’t too many of John’s kind overtly in evidence among the conference delegates at the Winter Gardens, there’s a healthy sprinkling of Captain Peacocks and Mollie Sugdens on parade.


It’s only the activists who sit through the debates. Everyone else is junketing, non-stop. MPs, ministers, candidates, party professionals, hacks, broadcasters, lobbyists, hangers-on by the hundreds – moving ceaselessly from one indifferent reception to another. There’s a nice freemasonry among the prospective candidates. I was queuing up to have my photograph taken by the BBC for their election night coverage and fell into conversation with the fellow standing in line behind me – gingerish hair, glasses, red braces, prospective candidate standing in some godforsaken northern backwater.


‘Do you live in the constituency?’ I asked.


‘Good God no,’ he spluttered, ‘Happiness is the constituency in the rear-view mirror.’


Speech of the week: on Tuesday, chairman Patten’s opening address, unscripted, informal, unexpected, modern. Moment of the week: on Wednesday, when Mrs T. arrived on the platform and pandemonium broke out. She didn’t say anything: she just was and for five minutes we stood and clapped and stamped our feet and roared. Even Michèle was cheering. There were tears in the eyes. You couldn’t not be moved. It was wonderful.


Equally wondrous to behold (in a wholly different way) was the astonishing curly-topped MP for Harlow called Jerry Hayes95 who bounded up to the podium on Thursday morning to give an apparently unscripted address on the wonders of the NHS and completely and utterly and absolutely lost his way! ‘Mr madam chairman’ he burbled as he fumbled as he stumbled, concluding (with the rest of us), ‘this must be the after-effect of a very bad night.’ It made me feel my speech had been quite statesmanlike. I was appallingly nervous, but it was fine – I got a bit of an ovation in the hall, but wasn’t much noticed beyond: as I began we hit ten o’clock and the BBC TV conference coverage was interrupted for Watch with Mother.


Last night I had my first close encounter with the Prime Minister. It was not an unqualified success. I had been asked to conduct the auction at the Conference Ball (and asked too to donate one of my ‘famous jumpers’ as an extra auction offering) and consequently Michèle and I were invited to come to the VIP reception and join the line-up for presentation to the Majors. We arrived on time and stood for about an hour, in our gladrags, in the dim and narrow gallery overlooking the Empress Ballroom, sipping our orange juice, shifting from foot to foot, making desultory small talk with the party bigwigs who understandably weren’t listening to us because they were anxiously listening out for word that the PM was on his way. It was exactly like waiting for royalty – and when eventually they arrived we treated them like royalty, bicycling Scandinavian royalty perhaps, but royalty all the same. Cameras whirred, bulbs flashed, we all beamed and the PM and Norma worked the line, winning hearts, shaking hands, squeezing arms, grinning resolutely all the way. As they got to us I was thrust forward clutching my ‘famous jumper’ – powder blue with ‘MAJOR TALENT’ boldly emblazoned on the chest – and as the Prime Minister caught sight of it I saw a danger signal flash behind his eyes. Whatever happened, he was not going to be photographed with that silly jumper. He started back, he grimaced, he gave a little cough, he muttered ‘Good to see you’ and moved firmly on.


LATER


We have just watched the Prime Minister give his end-of-conference address. It was exactly right: clear, uncomplicated, compelling. Some good self-deprecating jokes (on his educational qualifications: ‘Never has so much been written about so little’) and lots that was quite personal (‘the long road from Coalharbour Lane to Downing Street’). I know I’m easily moved, but I found it rather touching. It worked. And best of all, at the end, when John and Norma went walkabout among the cheering delegates, what did we see? Picked out by the TV camera – again and again and again – the comely girl who last night bought and is today wearing a powder blue jumper bearing the legend ‘MAJOR TALENT’.


So there.


WEDNESDAY 30 OCTOBER 1991


Judy Hurd, wife of the Foreign Secretary, came to Chester to be guest of honour at a charity lunch at the racecourse. She talked about life as the wife of a Foreign Secretary and did it rather well. I introduced myself and we travelled back together on the train. She is the second Mrs Hurd, was his secretary I think, is now quietly grand (not in a nasty way), tall, slim, fair, more presentable than pretty, but friendly, ready to be chatty. Around Rugby (and the second cup of tea) we’d exhausted Castlereagh and Lord Curzon and Anthony Eden and the rest and moved on to star signs (as one does) and we discovered, first, that Douglas Hurd and I share a birthday (8 March – different years, natch) and then, amazingly, that Judy and Michèle share a birthday too – 14 March, same day as Albert Einstein and Michael Caine. (Not many people know that…) I told her the poem that Tom Stoppard sent to me years ago, called simply 14 March:


Einstein born


Quite unprepared


For E to equal


MC squared


THURSDAY 31 OCTOBER 1991


We were invited to the State Opening of Parliament as guests of the Duke of Edinburgh. This was a real kindness as I have never seen the State Opening, even on television, but somehow, when we woke up this morning, we both felt shattered and decided we wouldn’t go. I felt a bit guilty about it, but Michèle was adamant: ‘It’ll be like a garden party, nobody’ll notice.’ I wasn’t sure, I went on brooding, and, at the last minute, we went. Fortunately. Not only were we expected (our names in elegant italic on dainty cards placed on our gilt and red-velvet seats), we were awaited. As we beetled along the red carpet, moments before Her Majesty, white-tied tail-coated flunkeys were anxiously checking their watches. We were seated in a sort of royal stage-box in a narrow gallery to the right of the throne, a ringside seat at a wonderful piece of pageantry and hokum that came over as magnificent and ridiculous all at the same time.


TUESDAY 5 NOVEMBER 1991


Christopher phoned Kirsty96 and Kirsty phoned Michèle to say: had we heard? Robert Maxwell had committed suicide – thrown himself off his yacht somewhere in the Canaries. Was it suicide or was he pushed? He was an alarming man. I vividly remember my first encounter with him, more than twenty years ago, when I was about nineteen and at Oxford. I was invited by Philip and Anne97 to an amazingly grand party at Headington Hill Hall where – I am ashamed to say – in the middle of the library, just after supper, I was attempting to amuse a group of fellow guests with an impertinent impersonation of our host when, quite suddenly, a heavy hand landed on my left shoulder. I spun round to find myself face to face with the great tycoon. I blanched. He looked stern, then he let out a loud, alarming, barking laugh, shook me by the shoulder and walked away. His children are devoted to him and I suppose he must have had real friends, although whenever we were at his house I found that fellow guests invariably spent much of their time talking about him in hushed undertones. At the last party we went to – for what seemed like 2,000 of his closer chums – I noticed he’d equipped himself with personal amplification. He was wearing a radio mike and there were speakers scattered about the house and the marquees, so, without having to raise his voice, the great man could address each and every one of us wherever we were. And now he’s gone.


Bizarre.


WEDNESDAY 6 NOVEMBER 1991


It may not be suicide. It could be an accident. Or murder. Was he an agent for Mossad? He was a monster. And a crook. I know: I sat in reception at Maxwell House for hours on end, saying ‘I’m not leaving without a cheque in my hand’ and meaning it – and getting it – after months and months and months of waiting.98 Maverick, money-maker, MP, rogue, he really was Augustus Melmotte in The Way We Live Now. I see the Prime Minister has picked the words of his tribute carefully: ‘A great character … I am sure he would not want us to grieve at his loss, but marvel at a quite extraordinary life lived to the full.’ Neil Kinnock is completely over the top: ‘This is truly tragic news.’ That he was ever taken seriously by the Labour Party is amazing. It was pitiful when Peter Jay allowed himself to become his poodle-cum-chef-de-cabinet.99 I remember a lunch at Jeffrey [Archer]’s when Jay was summoned to the phone once, twice, three times, then hauled away altogether. It would be nothing, Jay acknowledged, but when the master flicked his fingers the little dog had to jump. I think it was Jeffrey who had just been at some sporting gathering in Scotland and witnessed Captain Bob put his bearlike arm around the Queen and keep it there. Not even Her Majesty was able to freeze him off. Well, he had hutzpah. And for the children it is a tragedy. I must write to Anne, but I’m not sure what to say.


WEDNESDAY 27 NOVEMBER 1991


Creditors force Asil Nadir into bankruptcy. The Maxwell empire is unravelling before our eyes. The recession is deepening and lengthening. And last night, at Buckingham Palace, we set about trying to raise a million pounds for NPFA! HRH and I addressed our potential donors from a little dais in the middle of the magnificent stateroom. I thought as I spoke, ‘Isn’t this extraordinary, me being here in Buckingham Palace, making a speech like this?’ I tried to be amusing. HRH did the business. He went for the jugular. ‘Ladies and gentlemen, good evening. The doors at either end of the gallery have been closed. Welcome to the shearing shed.’ Of course, we will only fleece them successfully if we follow through … We went on to the Caprice for supper with Colin and Rosie [Sanders] and he has delivered, bless him: £50,000 and he paid for the birthday fireworks at the Windsor bash. A good man.


FRIDAY 13 DECEMBER 1991


Friday the thirteenth. I’m on the train to Chester, on my way to the St Theresa’s PTA Karaoke Night, preceded by a ‘two-hour in-depth’ interview with Chester Talking Newspaper. This morning I was on Treasure Islands on Radio 4 talking about children’s books and I started the day at TV-am talking about teddy bears. Last night, at the last minute, I found myself standing in for Jeffrey Archer and joining Tony Banks100 on a programme called Behind the Headlines for BBC2. I have just this second opened the Evening Standard and read Mark Steyn’s review: ‘On the last two occasions I saw Brandreth on TV, he was, first, dressed as Rhett Butler to host a Gone with the Wind lookalike competition and, second, wearing a fried egg on his head and inviting an adjoining snooker player to join him in a tribute to John Gielgud. Since then, unfortunately, he’s been selected as a Tory parliamentary candidate and so is now seen as a ridiculous figure of fun. To correct this impression for Behind the Headlines, he has gone to the trouble of wearing a grey suit, sober shirt, discreet tie and asking lots of questions about drugs and inheritance tax. But, behind Behind the Headlines, nobody seemed to care. Where most programmes tuck the wires down the back of the presenters’ jackets, here they extended from Brandreth’s and Banks’s ears before disappearing behind the chairs; Brandreth’s microphone was off initially, and, later, on when it shouldn’t have been; a floor manager crawled into view at one point.’ Quite funny really.


TUESDAY 17 DECEMBER 1991


At 10.30 this morning I joined a long queue that snaked its way from the front door of 32 Smith Square all the way through the building to a room right at the back where, for several hours, the poor Prime Minister stood in front of a blue screen waiting to have his photograph taken with each and every prospective candidate in turn. We shuffled forward at a snail’s pace, combing our hair and adjusting our ties in the mirror that awaited us at the final bend, and eventually reaching the small, stuffy room where the snaps were being taken. When we entered the room the PM looked weary, but he was equally effusive and engaging with each of us. We all stood in the same position; he held our hand rather limply in his; he offered the same goofy grin; the photographer gave it two shots and we all trusted that our leader’s eyes couldn’t be closed in both of them. Before we entered into the presence someone must have whispered our names to him because he got every first name spot on and when he realised the woman ahead of me had a child with her (who hadn’t come in to the room but hovered near the door) he chased out after the child and led it back into the room himself so it could be photographed too. It’s a funny way to lead a country.


TUESDAY 31 DECEMBER 1991


199 firms a day are collapsing. We’re behind in the polls. Our personal finances are pretty dire because I’ve spent a year walking the streets and treading water. But this is what I wanted to do and Michèle is supporting me without reproach. (Well, not quite without reproach: every time we’re on the motorway for more than four hours trekking between here and Chester she hisses, ‘You wouldn’t wait, would you? You had to have it; you wouldn’t see if something nearer London came up; you had to have it; you’d have walked over your dying granny to get it. I know you.’ She does.)


Anyway, the year’s done now. And there were good things too. Today Dirk Bogarde has a knighthood. And I have a brilliant wife and three good children and one fine cat and plenty of energy and ambition and hope. 1992, here we come!




64 Norman Lamont, MP for Kingston-upon-Thames 1972–97, had been John Major’s campaign manager in his bid for the leadership in November 1990 and became Chancellor of the Exchequer when Major became Prime Minister. Later Baron Lamont of Lerwick.


65 Ventriloquist Ray Alan’s dummy.


66 Throughout the diary GB quotes from newspapers, usually either the Daily Telegraph or, as here, The Times.


67 American singer and film actor.


68 Writer who had been President of the Oxford Union in 1919. Fifty years later GB had invited him to return to the Union.


69 Actor. GB wrote a biography to celebrate his eightieth birthday in 1984.


70 Clare Short, MP for Birmingham Ladywood since 1983; member of the opposition front bench social security team 1989–91.


71 1920–2007; Speaker of the House of Commons 1983–92; MP for Croydon North East 1964–92.


72 Derek Nimmo, 1930–99, actor, and his wife Pat, friends of GB.


73 Peter Morrison, 1944–95, MP for the City of Chester 1974–92.


74 Lyndon Harrison, Labour MEP for Cheshire West & Wirral 1989–99.


75 In 1969 GB, while still at Oxford, had presented a television programme for ITV called Child of the Sixties in which he looked back on the ’60s and interviewed a range of guests, including the then shadow Chancellor Iain Macleod (1913–70). After the programme, GB asked his hero for advice about a political career and Macleod replied: ‘Go away. Get yourself a wife, she’ll knock some sense into you. Get some children, they’ll knock the stuffing out of you. And do something – build something, make something, achieve something. Then come back and talk to me.’


76 He was Margaret Thatcher’s PPS 1990–92.


77 Peter Bowles, actor, and his wife Sue, friends of GB and neighbours in Barnes.


78 GB’s elder daughter was fourteen and a pupil at St Paul’s Girls’ School.


79 Subsequently MP for Hastings & Rye 1992–7, and Beckenham 1997–2010, and, in 1996, the first woman to join the Conservative Whips’ Office.


80 In fact, 1940–56


81 Until the general election, GB continued to work as a radio and TV presenter and to make after-dinner speeches.


82 Gwyn Gough, much-valued, much-loved Chester Conservative Association secretary.


83 Jenny Noll, much-valued, much-loved personal assistant to GB.


84 MP for Wirral 1976–83, Wirral West 1983–97; later Baron Hunt of Wirral.


85 Alastair Goodlad, MP for Northwich 1974–83, Eddisbury 1983–99; later Baron Goodlad of Lincoln KCMG.


86 MP for Tatton 1983–97.


87 A Labour stronghold, a district of Chester dominated by a large council estate.


88 The Challenge Anneka  television programme, starring Anneka Rice, had agreed to build a playground on behalf of NPFA if Prince Philip issued the challenge.


89 Tim Heald, journalist and writer, and his then wife, friends of GB.


90 MP for Bath 1979–92, chairman of the Conservative Party and Chancellor of the Duchy of Lancaster 1990–92. Later Baron Patten of Barnes, Chancellor of Oxford University and chairman of the BBC Trust.


91 Deputy chairman of the City of Chester Conservative Association.


92 Michael Mansfield QC.


93 MP for Warwickshire North 1983–92, Financial Secretary to the Treasury 1990–92. MP for Horsham from 1997.


94 MP for Richmond, Yorkshire, since 1989.


95 MP for Harlow 1983–97.


96 Christopher Hudson, journalist and writer, and his wife, Kirsty McLeod, writer, friends of GB.


97 Maxwell’s two oldest children, contemporaries of GB at university.


98 GB and his wife’s editorial services business, Complete Editions, had created a range of books and magazines for two Maxwell companies.


99 Maxwell’s chief of staff, 1986–9; later BBC economics editor and non-executive director of the Bank of England.


100 1942–2006; Labour MP for Newham North West 1983–2005.
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